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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as tGerhpany,” (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersagthe “Operating
Partnership,” (3) the Company’s common stock agti@won Stock,” (4) the Company’s preferred stockRxeferred Stock,” (5) the
Operating Partnership’s common partnership interast‘Common Units,” (6) the Operating Partnershgreferred partnership interests as
“Preferred Units” and (7) in-service propertiesdlexing apartment units) to which the Company fitéesand 100.0% ownership rights as the
“Wholly Owned Properties.”

The information furnished in the accompanying Cdidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustragobnsisting of normal recurrir
accruals) that are, in our opinion, necessary fairgpresentation of the aforementioned finanstatements for the interim period.

The aforementioned financial statements shouldehd in conjunction with the notes to Consolidatedhfcial Statements and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations included heagid in our 2003 amended Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land and improvemen
Buildings and tenant improvemet
Development in proces
Land held for developme!
Furniture, fixtures and equipme

Less— accumulated depreciatic

Net real estate asst¢

Property held for sal
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, n
Notes receivabl
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Investments in unconsolidated affilias
Other asset:

Deferred leasing cos

Deferred financing cos

Prepaid expenses and otl

Less— accumulated amortizatic
Other assets, n

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied

Financing obligation

Total Liabilities

Minority interest in the Operating Partners

Stockholder Equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 auwthdrshares

8 5/ 8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shigegdation preference $1,000 per
share), 104,945 shares issued and outstandingterSiger 30, 2004 and December 31, 2

8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sajeslation preference $25 per share),
6,900,000 shares issued and outstanding at Sept&dp2004 and December 31, 2(

8% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sliayeslation preference $250 per share)
400,000 shares issued and outstanding at Sept&@p2004 and December 31, 2(

Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares; 53,713,181 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2004 and 53,474,4D8@mber 31, 2003, respectiv:

Additional paic-in capital
Distributions in excess of net earnir
Accumulated other comprehensive i
Deferred compensatic

Total Stockholder Equity

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheel
(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

September 3C

December 31

2004 2003
(Unaudited)

$ 402,47 $ 424,70:
2,938,89 3,085,06:
14,43: 7,48t
189,21. 189,84:
22,14( 21,81¢
3,567,15! 3,728,901
(584,34 (539,700
2,982,81. 3,189,201
69,01 101,00:
20,46¢ 21,55
4,927 4,60z
14,89¢ 18,17¢
9,80: 10,06¢
60,87: 58,91:
78,70¢ 62,41
108,98t 102,66:
16,97: 19,28¢
12,17 10,44:
138,13. 132,39(
(63,484 (55,299
74,64¢ 77,09
$3,316,14! $3,543,02.
$1,600,62 $1,717,76!
113,61 101,60¢
62,99: 124,06:
1,777,23 1,943,43
119,77! 127,77¢
104,94! 104,94!
172,50( 172,50(
100,00( 100,00(
537 53¢t
1,415,45! 1,408,88:
(366,547 (306,939
(3,009 (3,650)
(4,767 (4,469
1,419,13. 1,471,81.



Total Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity $3,316,14! $3,543,02:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Income Statement

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

Rental and other revenues

Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of assets held for L
General and administratiy

Total operating expens

Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligation

Other income/(expense)
Interest and other incon
Settlement of bankruptcy clai
Loss on debt extinguishme
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior

Income before disposition of property, c-venture expense, minority interest anc

equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Gains on disposition of property, r
Ca-venture expens

Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomitiy interest

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox

Net income available for common stockholder

Net income per common share—basic:
Income from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operatia

Net income
Weighted average common shares outsta—basic
Net income per common shar—diluted:

Income from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operatia

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
$114,26( $121,75! $351,08¢ $372,96¢
41,69: 42,97¢ 127,43t 129,15
33,41¢ 34,05( 103,10¢ 105,39
50C — 50C —
10,08¢ 6,75( 28,62t 18,38:
85,701 83,77¢ 259,67 252,93¢
25,63¢ 29,95¢ 80,22: 90,40
782 1,69( 2,851 3,49(
1,37¢ 4,47¢ 7,491 13,51¢
27,79¢ 36,12 90,57( 107,41
1,73¢ 1,42¢ 4,97( 4,47(
14,43t — 14,43 —
= - (12,457 (14,659
— 16,30! — 16,30!
16,17( 17,72¢ 6,94¢ 6,11¢
16,93: 19,58¢ 7,79¢ 18,74(
2,30¢ 5,55¢ 17,78: 7,97(C
— (339) — (4,58¢)
(1,497 (1,965 (914) (261)
2,631 1,081 5,46¢ 3,607
20,381 23,92 30,12} 25,46¢
54¢ 73C 1,167 2,87¢
63C 7,431 60¢ 8,331
1,17¢ 8,161 1,77¢ 11,20¢
21,55¢ 32,08¢ 31,90: 36,67
(7,719 (7,719 (23,139 (23,139
$13,84¢ $2437. $ 8,76¢ $ 13,53¢
$ 024 $ 031 $ 01z $ 0.0
0.0z 0.1t 0.0< 0.21
$ 02 $ 04¢ $ 01€ $ 0.2¢
53,37: 52,73¢ 53,27 52,93!
$ 024 $ 031 $ 01z $ 0.04
0.0z 0.1t 0.0< 0.21



Net income $ 02 $ 04¢ $ 01€¢ $ 0.2t

Weighted average common shares outstar—diluted 54,00: 53,35¢ 54,00¢ 53,43¢
Dividends declared per common sh $ 0428 $ 0428 $ 127 $ 1.27F

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients

4



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholde’ Equity
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 20C
(Unaudited and in thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated
Distributions
Other
Number of ~ Common Additional Deferred Compre- in Excess
Common Series A Series B Series D Paid-In Compen- hensive of Net
Shares Stock Preferred Preferred Preferred Capital sation Loss Earnings Total

Balance at Decembe!

31, 2003 53,474,40 $ 53t $104,94' $172,50( $100,00( $1,408,88! $(4,469) $ (3,65() $(306,93¢) $1,471,81
Issuance of Common

Stock 70,25:¢ 1 — — — 1,43¢ — — — 1,43¢
Conversion of

Common Units to

Common Stocl 54,30¢ — — — — 1,40¢ — — — 1,40¢
Common Stock

Dividends — — — — — — — — (68,369 (68,36%)
Preferred Stock

Dividends — — — — — — — — (23,139 (23,139
Adjustment to

minority interest of

unitholders in the

Operating

Partnershig — — — — — (610 — — — (610
Issuance of deferred

compensatiol 114,21° 1 — — — 3,08: (3,089 — — —
Fair value of stock

options issue: — — — — — 1,25¢ (1,256 — — —
Amortization of

deferred

compensatiol — — — — — — 4,04¢ — — 4,04¢
Other comprehensive

income — — — — — — — 647 — 647
Net Income — — — — — — — — 31,90z 31,90:

Balance at Septembe
30, 2004 53,713,18 $ 537 $104,94' $172,50( $100,00( $1,415,45' $(4,767) $ (3,007 $(366,54) $1,419,13.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Operating activities:

Income from continuing operatiol

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing @piens to net cash provided by operating actisi
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of deferred compensati
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Loss on debt extinguishmer
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior
Gains on disposition of property, r
Impairment of assets held for L
Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Discontinued operatior

Changes in financing obligatic

Changes in c¢-venture obligatior

Changes in operating assets and liabili

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities:

Additions to real estate ass:

Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliat
Investments in notes receival
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Other investing activitie

Net cash provided by investing activiti

Financing activities:

Distributions paid on common stock and common
Dividends paid on preferred sto

Net proceeds from the sale of common si
Repurchase of common stock and common 1
Borrowings on revolving loa

Repayment of revolving log

Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi
Repayment of mortgages and notes pay
Payments on financing obligatit

Payments on «-venture obligatiot

Settlement of interest rate swap agreen
Additions to deferred financing cos
Payments on debt extinguishme

Net cash used in financing activiti

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for intere:

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2004 2003
$ 30,121 $ 25,46¢
103,10¢ 105,39
4,04¢ 2,15¢
2,851 3,49(
582 1,36(
(5,469 (3,607)
12,45 14,65:
— (16,30))
(17,789 (7,970
50C —
914 261
2,407 6,06¢
1,42¢ 4,67¢
— (987)
(5,841 (1,769
129,33t 132,89¢
(91,697) (90,819
106,22( 142,54°
7,23z 5,367
96€ 2,572
(3,865 —
81 45€
18,94: 60,12¢
(76,215 (86,30))
(23,139 (23,139
1,43¢ 61¢
(482) (19,079
356,00 190,50(
(209,500 (162,000
143,00( 20,00(
(263,639 (70,770)
(62,500) —
- (26,229
— 3,86¢
(1,86¢) (2,58¢)
(12,457 (16,282
(149,36) (191,39
(1,089 1,63¢
21,551 15,79¢
$ 20,46¢ $ 17,43
$ 78,69 $ 86,12:



See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continue:
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

The following table summarizes the net assets aedldisposed subject to mortgage notes payabletwed non-cash transactions:

Assets:

Net real estate asse¢

Restricted cas

Accounts receivabl

Notes receivabl

Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Investments in unconsolidated affilia
Deferred financing cos

Prepaid expenses and otl

Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payal
Accounts payable accrued expenses and other fiab

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2004 2003

$(154,548) $69,34¢

702 2,14z

14,30 (1,869

3,84:

$(139,54() $73,47:

(143,000  64,67¢
3,45,  8,79¢

$(139,540 $73,47:
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 200.
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDB ASIS OF P RESENTATION
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc. and its consolidatecsslidries (the “Company”) is a self-administered aplf-managed real estate
investment trust (“REIT”) that operates in the $matstern and midwestern United States. The Compavholly-owned assets include: 525
in-service office, industrial and retail properti@s200 acres of undeveloped land suitable forrutlevelopment; and an additional four
properties under development (the “Wholly Ownedp@rtes”).

The Company conducts substantially all of its atifig through, and substantially all of its intéseis the properties are held directly or
indirectly by, Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersifibpe “Operating Partnership”). The Company issbke general partner of the Operating
Partnership. At September 30, 2004, the Companyedw00.0% of the preferred partnership interesseferred Units”) and 89.7% of the
common partnership interests (“Common Units”) ia @perating Partnership. Holders of Common Unitg redeem them for the cash value
of one share of the Company’s Common Stock, $.0vg@ae (the “Common Stock”), or, at the Compargpsion, one share of Common
Stock. During the nine months ended September@®},2he Company redeemed from limited partnerdy@ing certain officers and
directors of the Company) 20,271 Common Units f@A8 million in cash and converted 54,308 Commoitdin exchange for Common
Stock on a one-for-one basis. The Company’s wethaterage ownership of Common Units during the mioaths ended September 30,
2004 was 89.7%. The three series of Preferred lmnitse Operating Partnership were issued to thag2my in connection with the
Company'’s three Preferred Stock offerings in 199 H998. The net proceeds raised from each ohtiee tPreferred Stock issuances were
contributed by the Company to the Operating Pastriprin exchange for preferred interests in ther@jeg Partnership. The terms of each
series of Preferred Units generally parallel thenteof the respective Preferred Stock as to diddeliquidation and redemption rights.

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Compaitude the Operating Partnership, wholly ownehlsidiaries and those
subsidiaries in which the Company owns a majoritiing interest with the ability to control operatgof the subsidiaries and where no
approval, veto or other important rights have bgmmted to the minority shareholders. In accordavitie Statement of Position 78-9,
“Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventyrdse Company consolidates partnerships, jointwes and limited liability companies
when the Company controls the major operating arahtial policies of the entity through majority mgrship or in its capacity as general
partner or managing member. The Company does msbtidate entities where the other interest holtake important rights, including
approving decisions to encumber the entities witht dnd acquire or dispose of properties. In amtdithe Company consolidates those
entities, if any, where the Company is deemed tthberimary beneficiary in a variable interestitgrias defined by FASB Interpretation N
46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Vialganterest Entities” (“FIN 46")). All significanintercompany transactions and accounts
have been eliminated.

The Company has elected and expects to contingeaiify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86thefinternal Revenue Code of
1986 (the “Code”), as amended. As a REIT, the Campgenerally will not be subject to federal or steiicome taxes on its net income that it
distributes to stockholders. Continued qualificatas a REIT depends on the Company’s ability tisfyahe dividend distribution tests, stock
ownership requirements, and various other quatificaests prescribed in the Code. In June 19%Cthmpany formed a taxable REIT
subsidiary, as permitted under the Code, througitwit conducts certain business activities; thebde REIT subsidiary is subject to federal
and state income taxes on its net taxable incordgtenCompany records provisions for such taxeke@xtent required based on its income
recognized for financial statement purposes, inolythe effects of temporary differences betwearthsaocome and that recognized for tax
purposes.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDB AsIs OF P RESENTATION - Continued

Certain amounts originally reported in the Septan3e 2003 and the amended December 31, 2003 falastatements have been
reclassified to conform to the September 30, 20@4qntation and accounting for discontinued opanat{see Note 9 for further discussion).
These reclassifications had no effect on net incomstockholders’ equity as previously reported.

The accompanying financial information has not baedited, but in the opinion of management, allstipents (consisting of normal
recurring accruals) necessary for a fair preseamtadf the Company’s financial position, result©pérations and cash flows have been made.
The Company has condensed or omitted certain aoigsther information from the interim financishtetments presented in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. These financial statementaldhze read in conjunction with the Company’s 2@@8nded Annual Report on Form
10-K.

The preparation of financial statements in accardamith U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Prinefp(“GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae amounts reported in the financial statetmend accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Minority interest in the Operating Partnership. Minority interest in the accompanying Consolidakédancial Statements relates to
the common ownership interests in the OperatingnBeship owned by various individuals and entiGdser than the Company. As of
September 30, 2004, the minority interest in thei@png Partnership consisted of 6.1 million Comrmits. Minority interest in the net
income of the Operating Partnership is computedfdplying the weighted average percentage of Comumis not owned by the Company
(as a percent of the total number of outstandingn@on Units) to the Operating Partnership’s netimeafter deducting distributions on
Preferred Units. The result is the amount of miydriterest expense recorded for the period. Initeag when a common unitholder redeems
a Common Unit for a share of Common Stock or cmhminority interest is reduced and the Compsusiyare in the Operating Partnershi
increased.

At the end of each reporting period, the Compartgrd@nes the amount that represents the minorithalders’ share of the net assets
(at book value) of the Operating Partnership andpares this amount to the minority interest balghegresulted from transactions during
the period involving minority interest. The Compagjusts the minority interest liability to the cputed share of net assets with an offse
adjustment to the Company’s paid in capital.

Following is the minority interest in the net incerof the Operating Partnership (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Minority Interest in continuing operatiol $(1,49]) $(1,965 $ (919 $ (26)])
Amount related to income from discontinued opereat (63) (90) (135) (367)
Amount related to gain on sale of discontinued afiens (73 (92¢) (73) (1,04)
Total Minority Interest in net income of the OpémgtPartnershi $(1,627) $(2,987 $(1,127) $(1,669)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES

During the past several years, the Company hasgfrarious joint ventures with unrelated investdtsee Company has retained
minority equity interests ranging from 12.50% to@®% in these joint ventures. The Company has ateduor its unconsolidated joint
ventures using the equity method of accountingaAasult, the assets and liabilities of these jeémtures for which it uses the equity method
of accounting are not included on the Company’sgobtidated Balance Sheet. As of September 30, 2@ joint venture is accounted for as
a financing arrangement pursuant to Statementrafrigial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 66, “Aooting for Sales of Real Estate,” as
described in Note 3 and accordingly, is not reéiddh the table below.

9
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES - Continued

The following table sets forth information regaglithe Company’s unconsolidated joint ventures esrded on the joint ventures’
books for the nine months ended September 30, 20842003 (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003
Perceni Net
Net Operating Income/
O d )
wne Operating Depr/ Income/ Depr/
Revenue Expenses Interest Amort (Loss) Revenue Expenses Interest Amort (Loss)

Income Statement Data:
Board of Trade Investment

Company 490% $190¢ $128 $ 40 $ 34C $ 23t $1,76¢ $ 1,191 $ 50 $ 304 $ 22t
Dallas County Partne (1) 50.00% 8,90¢ 4,27( 2,021 1,407 1,21C 7,954 4,13¢ 2,07¢ 1,41¢ 32t
Dallas County Partners Il

1) 50.0(% 4,78¢ 2,11¢ 1,68¢ 561 42¢€ 4.57¢ 1,91« 1,77¢ 617 275
Fountain Thre(1) 50.0(% 5,467 2,40z 1,59¢ 1,147 32C 5,174 2,34¢ 1,687 1,16( (19
RRHWoods, LLC(1) 50.0(% 10,48¢ 5,84¢ 1,961 2,53¢ 144 10,91¢ 5,551 1,97¢ 2,54k 843
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( 26.5(% 4,82¢ 3,591 — 522 712 4,51z 3,53¢ — 54C 437
4600 Madison Associates,

LP 12.5(% 3,93¢ 1,67¢ 853 1,32¢ 82 4,12z 1,597 88¢ 1,331 30€

Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81%  14,86: 4,28 3,39¢ 2,657 4,51¢ 14,49 4,14; 3,44¢ 2,59z 4,31(
Highwoods DLF 97/26

DLF 99/32, LP 42.99% 11,08¢ 3,31¢ 3,40¢ 3,132 1,22¢ 12,08: 3,34t 3,44¢ 2,97¢  2,31C
Highwoods-Markel

Associates, LLC 50.00(% 4,98¢ 1,117 1,72¢ 1,10¢ 1,03¢ 2,462 1,30( 80C 464 (102
MG-HIW Peachtree

Corners lll, LLC(2) 50.00% — — — — — 21¢ 75 73 76 (5)
MG-HIW Metrowest I,

LLC (3) 50.00(% — 5 — — (5) — 26 — — (26)
MG-HIW Metrowest II,

LLC (3) 50.0(% 141 88 39 70 (56) 441 32t 124 252 (260)
Concourse Cente
Associates, LLC 50.0(% 1,57¢ 43¢ 522 24¢ 36¢ 1,55¢ 401 51¢ 227 41C
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 27 3 — 17 7 10 2 — 3 5
Highwoods KC
Glenridge, LLC(4) 40.0(% 1,99¢ 87¢ 332 374 414 — — — — —

HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(5) 40.0(% 7,18 2,752 1,92¢ 1,03¢ 1,47¢ — — — — —

Total $82,187 $34,07¢ $19,51¢ $16,47¢ $12,127 $70,29( $29,88¢ $16,86¢ $14,50% $9,03(

(1) Des Moines joint venture

(2) As part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition on Jud®, 2003, the Company was assigned Miller GlolE0®% equity interest in the
single property encompassing 53,896 square feeedwg MG-HIW Peachtree Corners Ill, LLC. As a réstliis entity became wholly
owned as of July 29, 2003 and is consolidated disadfdate

(3) On March 2, 2004, the Company exercised arongt acquire its partner’'s 50.0% equity interaghie assets of MG-HIW Metrowest I,
LLC and MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC. The Company patd partner $3.2 million for such remaining inte¢rasd a $7.4 million
construction loan was paid in full by the Compahlye assets encompass 87,832 square feet of pr@petty.0 acres of development
land zoned for the development of 90,000 squaredfeeffice space. This acquisition increased tloen@any’s ownership interest to
100.0% and these entities are consolidated as offivig 2004

(4) The Company and Kapital-Consult, a Europeaastment firm, formed this joint venture partnershipich on February 26, 2004
acquired from a third party Glenridge Point Offleark, consisting of two office buildings aggreggtt85,000 square feet located in the
Central Perimeter sub-market of Atlanta. As of Sayier 30, 2004, the buildings were 91.0% leased.Gdmpany contributed $10.0
million to the joint venture in return for a 40.08quity interest and Kapital-Consult contributed $14hillion for a 60.0% equity interest
in the partnership. The joint venture entered am&16.5 million ten-year secured loan on the as$éis Company is the manager and
leasing agent for this property and will receivetomary management fees and leasing commissioesadduisition also included 2.9
acres of development land that can accommodat®0®@guare feet of office spa
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES - Continued

(5) On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a Europeasstment firm, bought an interest in HIW-KC OrlandLC, an entity formed by the
Company. HIW-KC Orlando, LLC owns five in-servicHice properties, encompassing 1.3 million rentadzjgeare feet, located in the
central business district of Orlando, Florida, whigere valued under the joint venture agreeme$2a2.0 million, including amounts
related to the Company’s guarantees described balodvwhich were subject to a $136.2 million sedur®rtgage loan. Kapital-
Consult contributed $42.1 million in cash and reedia 60.0% equity interest in return. The jointtuee borrowed $143.0 million unc
a ten-year fixed rate mortgage loan from a thindyplender and repaid the $136.2 million loan. Twmpany retained a 40.0% equity
interest in the joint venture and received net gasiceeds of approximately $46.6 million, of wh#33.0 million was used to pay down
the Company’s $250.0 million revolving loan (thegi®lving Loan”) and $13.6 million was used to paywd other debt of the
Company. In connection with this transaction, tlwn@any agreed to guarantee rent to the joint veritur3,248 rentable square feet
commencing in August 2004 and expiring in April 20Additionally, the Company agreed to guaranteenanting costs for
approximately 11.0% of the joint venture’s totaliatg footage. The Company recorded a $4.1 millawility with respect to such
guarantee at the date of formation and reducetbthbamount of the gain recognized by the sameuamd\t September 30, 2004, $2.6
million remains in other liabilities in connectiovith this guarantee. The Company believes its egmelated to the re-tenanting costs
guarantee is accurate. However, if its assumptiooge to be incorrect, future losses may occur. ddweribution was accounted for a
partial sale as defined by SFAS No. 66, and the jizow recognized a $15.9 million gain in June 2@4ce the Company has an
ongoing 40.0% financial interest in the joint vartand since the Company is engaged by the jomuve to provide management and
leasing services for the joint venture, for whitheceives customary management fees and leasmmissions, the operations of these
properties will not be reflected as discontinuedragions consistent with SFAS No. 144, “Accountiogthe Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Asset” (“SFAS No. 14”) and the related gain on sale was included in caimgnoperations in June 20(

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretationd6a(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable IntereEntities” (“VIES”), the primary
objective of which is to provide guidance on thentification of entities for which control is acked through means other than voting rights
and to determine when and which business enterghiseld consolidate the VIEs. This new model agplben either (1) the equity investors
(if any) do not have a controlling financial intster (2) the equity investment at risk is insuéit to finance the entity’s activities without
additional financial support. FIN 46 also requiagllitional disclosures. FIN 46 was effective imnagely for interests acquired subsequent to
January 31, 2003 and was effective March 31, 200#terests in VIEs created before February 1320Bie Company assessed its variable
interests, including the joint ventures listed alsaand determined the interests were not VIEs. Aesalt, the provisions of FIN 46 did not
have an impact on the Company’s financial conditbonesults of operations.

3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS

The following summarizes sales transactions ttagacounted for as financing arrangements at Séeted®, 2004 under paragraph:
through 29 under SFAS No. 66.

SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, the Company contributeddteigw Plaza, an office building located in Tamphkrida, to SF-HIW
Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview LP”), a newly foed entity, in exchange for a 20.0% limited parshgr interest and $35.4 million in
cash. The Company also entered into a master égmeement with Harborview, LP for five years onvhaeant space in the building
(approximately 20.0%) and guaranteed payment @afrteimprovements and lease commissions of $1.20milThe Company’s maximum
exposure to loss under the master lease agreenasrf2vl million at September 11, 2002 and was $illibn at September 30, 2004.
Additionally, the Company partner in Harborview LP was granted the righaubits 80.0% equity interest in Harborview LPRtlie Compan
in exchange for cash at any time during the ye&- period commencing on September 11, 2014. ahewf the 80.0% equity interest will
determined at the time, if ever, that such parébects to exercise its put right, based upon tha thir market value of Harborview L¥asset
and liabilities, less 3.0%, which was intendeddwer normal costs of a sale transaction.

11



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS - Continued

Because of the put option and master lease agréethisnransaction is accounted for as a finantiagsaction. Accordingly, the ass:
liabilities and operations related to Harborviewa#l, the property owned by Harborview LP, includimy new financing by the partnership,
remain on the books of the Company. As a residtGQbmpany has established a financing obligatiaraktp the net equity contributed by !
other partner. At the end of each reporting peribe balance of the financing obligation is adjdsteequal the current fair value, which is
$13.7 million at September 30, 2004, but not lass the original financing obligation. This adjustmhis amortized prospectively through
September 2014. Additionally, the net income friwm dperations before depreciation of Harborvieve®kllocable to the 80.0% partner is
recorded as interest expense on financing obligafibe Company continues to depreciate the propedyrecord all of the depreciation or
books. Additionally, any payments made under theterdease agreement are expensed as incurred (®@lon and $0.3 million was
expensed during the nine months ended Septemb@088,and 2003, respectively) and any amountsyrader the tenant improvement and
lease commission guarantee are capitalized andtizethto expense over the remaining lease ternsugh time as the put option expires or
otherwise is terminated, the Company will recorel titansaction as a sale and recognize gain on sale.

Eastshore

On November 26, 2002, the Company sold three mgjkllocated in Richmond, Virginia for a total puask price of $28.5 million in
cash, which was paid in full by the buyer at clgsfthe “Eastshore” transaction). Each of the sotiperties is a single tenant building leased
on a triple-net basis to Capital One Services, lmesubsidiary of Capital One Financial Servicas, |

In connection with the sale, the Company enter&alarrental guarantee agreement for each buildinthe benefit of the buyer to
guarantee any rent shortfalls which may be incuimetie payment of rent and re-tenanting costaffive-year period from the date of sale
(through November 2007). The Company’s maximum sxpoto loss under the rental guarantee agreemest$18.7 million at the date of
sale and $13.4 million as of September 30, 200duire 2004, the Company began to make monthly patgrbe the buyer, at an annual rate
of $0.1 million, as a result of the existing tenesriewing a lease in one building at a lower reratts.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghewent as prescribed by SFAS No. 66. Becauseuheagtees cover the entire sp
occupied by a single tenant under a triple-netdeasangement, the Company’s guarantees are coedidegyuaranteed return on the buyer’s
investment for an extended period of time. Themftite transaction has been accounted for as rcfimatransaction. Accordingly, the assets
and operations are included in these ConsolidaitehEial Statements, and a financing obligatio§28.5 million was initially recorded
which represents the amount received from the bdyer income from the operations of the propertidiser than depreciation, is allocated
100.0% to the owner as interest expense on fingratitigation. Payments made under the rent guagarstee charged to expense as incurred
which totaled $0.04 million for the nine months eddeptember 30, 2004. This transaction will bended as a completed sale transaction in
the future when the maximum exposure to loss utideguarantees is equal to or less than the redrtied

MG-HIW, LLC

As previously disclosed, on March 2, 2004, the Canypexercised its option and acquired its partr&0'8% interest in the Orlando
City Group of MG-HIW, LLC. At the closing of theansaction, the Company paid its partner, Millerlialp $62.5 million and a $7.5 million
letter of credit delivered to the seller in conmattwith the option was cancelled. The initial admition of these assets was accounted for
financing arrangement and continued to be so ehr®ugh March 1, 2004. The financing obligatioasveliminated on March 2, 2004. Sii
the financing obligation was adjusted each peraychf20.0% leveraged internal rate of return guasmo gain or loss was recognized upon
the extinguishment of the financing obligation.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

4. A sseTD ISPOSITIONS
Gains on disposition of properties, net excludiagng or losses from discontinued operations, ctatisf the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Gain/(loss) on disposition of land, net of impaimh $ 57¢ $ 1,067 $ (100) $3,43¢
Gain on disposition of depreciable proper 1,72¢ 4,48¢ 17,887  4,72¢
(Impairment) of depreciable properti — — — (297
Total $ 2,30¢ $ 5,55€ $17,78: $7,97(

Gains on disposition of properties, net of minonitierest from discontinued operations, consistati@following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Gain on disposition of depreciable proper $ 70¢ $ 8,35¢ $4,53t $9,50(
(Impairment) of depreciable properti — — (3,85€) (12¢)
Allocable minority interes (73 (92¢) (73) (1,04)
Total $63C $ 7431 $ 60¢ $8,331

On June 16, 2004, the Company sold a 177,000 sdpeatréuilding (the network operations center) keckin the Highwoods Preserve
Office Park in Tampa, Florida. Highwoods Preses/a 816,000 square foot office park that has nen lmecupied since WorldCom vacated
the space as of December 31, 2002. Net proceeustfre sale were approximately $18.6 million. Theeatiad a net book value of
approximately $22.4 million. The Company recogniaadmpairment loss of approximately $3.7 millionApril 2004 when the planned sale
met the criteria to be classified as held for seleonnection with the sale of the network operagicenter, the buyer also agreed to purch
3.3 acre tract of development land located in ffieeopark for approximately $1.4 million, which ssibject to the Company securing certain
development rights for the land from the local noypality. The net book value of the land is appnoately $0.6 million and was classified as
held for sale in accordance with SFAS No.144 inill2904. This land sale is subject to customargiclg conditions and no assurances can
be provided that the disposition will occur. Thenegning assets in the office park were classifietield for use as of September 30, 2004 anc
continue to be so classified in accordance with Si. 144,

In May 2004, the Company executed two agreemerdslt@pproximately 30.0 acres of land in suburBaliimore, Maryland. The
agreements provide for estimated net proceedsmbapnately $6.1 million and the net book valuette land is $7.9 million. Accordingly,
an impairment loss of approximately $1.8 millionswacorded in May 2004 when the land was reclassffom held for use to held for sale.
On September 30, 2004, one sale of 27.0 acresavasimmated. The Company received $5.5 million trpneceeds. The sale of the
remaining 3.0 acres is subject to customary closorglitions and no assurances can be providedhbatisposition will occur.

See Note 9 for additional disclosure on asset impatit and disposals in accordance with SFAS No. 144
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

5. Put O pTiIoN N OTES R EFINANCING AND R EVOLVING L OAN

In 1997, the Operating Partnership sold $100.0anilbf Exercisable Put Option Notes due June 1%13¢€he “Put Option Notes”). The
Put Option Notes bore an interest rate of 7.19%n ftloe date of issuance through June 15, 2004. Aftee 15, 2004, the interest rate to
maturity on the Put Option Notes was required t@138% plus the applicable spread determined dsraé 10, 2004. In connection with the
initial issuance of the Put Option Notes, a couptety was granted an option to purchase the Ptib@plotes on June 15, 2004 at 100.0% of
the principal amount. The counter party exerciségldption and acquired the Put Option Notes ore I 2004. On that same date, the
Company exercised its option to acquire the Putddptiotes from the counter party for a purchaseepeiqual to the sum of the present value
of the remaining scheduled payments of principdliaterest (assuming an interest rate of 6.39%therPut Option Notes, or $112.5 million.
The difference between the $112.5 million and thed0 million was charged to loss on extinguishnértebt in the nine months ended
September 30, 2004. The Company borrowed funds it®Revolving Loan to make the $112.5 million pagymh

In June 2004, the Company amended its Revolving laval two bank term loans. The changes excludefiité million charge taken
related to the refinancing of the Put Option Ndtem the calculations used to compute financiales@ants. The amendment did not change
any economic terms of the loans. In connection tithamendment, the Company incurred certain loats¢hat are capitalized and
amortized over the remaining term of the loans.

In August 2004, the Company further amended itsolRévg Loan and two bank term loans. The changetuedrd the effects of
accounting for three sales transactions as fingraid/or profit-sharing arrangements under SFAS@8drom the calculations used to
compute financial covenants, adjusted one finammaénant and temporarily adjusted a second fimhgovenant until the earlier of
December 31, 2004 or the period when the Compamyeazord income from the anticipated settlemerst ofaim against WorldCom — see
Note 13.

See Note 14 for further discussion of a waiverastain financial covenants in October 2004 to tkenfany’s Revolving Loan and the
two bank term loans.

6. RELATED P ARTY T RANSACTIONS

The Company has previously reported that it hassheahtract to acquire development land in the glags Valley office development
project from GAPI, Inc., a corporation controllegldn executive officer and director of the Compadyg.January 17, 2003, the Company
acquired an additional 23.5 acres of this land ff@API, Inc. for cash and shares of Common Stockadhkt $2.3 million. In May 2003, 4.0
acres of the remaining acres not yet acquired &yCibmpany was taken by the Georgia Departmentarisportation to develop a roadway
interchange for consideration of $1.8 million. Thepartment of Transportation took possession dleddi the property in June 2003. As part
of the terms of the contract between the CompandyGAPI, Inc., the Company was entitled to the pealsefrom the condemnation of $1.8
million, less the contracted purchase price betvieerCompany and GAPI, Inc. for the condemned ptgpe $0.7 million. On September
30, 2003, as a result of the condemnation, the Gompeceived the proceeds of $1.8 million. A relgtarty payable of $0.7 million to GAF
Inc. related to the condemnation of the developrteantt is included in accounts payable, accruedesgegeand other liabilities in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at Decemh&0BB and at September 30, 2004.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

7. DERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The interest rates on all of the Company’s variabte debt are currently adjusted at one to threetimintervals, subject to settlements
under interest rate hedge contracts. Net paymeatke o counter parties under interest rate hedgieams were nominal in the nine months
ended September 30, 2004 and were recorded as$esréo interest expense.

In addition, the Company is exposed to certaindsss the event of non-performance by the courdaelypunder the interest rate hedge
contracts. The Company expects the counter pahighais a major financial institution, to performlfy under the contracts. However, if the
counter party was to default on its obligationsemtie interest rate hedge contracts, the Compaulg de required to pay the full rates on its
debt, even if such rates were in excess of theimétee contracts.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Coynpatered into and subsequently terminated threedst rate swap agreements
related to a teryear fixed rate financing completed on Decemb@0D3. These swap agreements were designated aaastedges and tr
unamortized effective portion of the cumulativergan these derivative instruments was $3.5 milibSeptember 30, 2004 and is being
reported as a component of AOCL in stockholdersityqThis deferred gain is being recognized ininebme as a reduction of interest
expense in the same period or periods during wintelest expense on the hedged fixed rate finareffegts net income. The Company
expects that approximately $0.3 million will be gaized in the next 12 months.

In 2003, the Company also entered into two interast swaps related to a floating rate credit itgcilhe swaps effectively fix the one-
month LIBOR rate on $20.0 million of floating radebt at 1.59% from January 2, 2004 until May 3020 hese swap agreements are
designated as cash flow hedges and the effectitmpamf the cumulative loss on these derivativi@riaments was $0.1 million at September
30, 2004. The Company expects that the portioh@ttumulative loss recorded in AOCL at SeptembeRB804 associated with these
derivative instruments, which will be recognizedhin the next 12 months, will be approximately $thillion.

At September 30, 2004, approximately $5.4 milliénieferred financing costs from past cash flow tieglgnstruments remain in
AOCL, including those described above. These argtsecognized as interest expense as the undgdeint is repaid and amounted to $0.2
million and $0.4 million during the quarters endgeptember 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The @oynexpects that the portion of the
cumulative loss recorded in AOCL at September B042associated with these derivative instrumenisciwill be recognized within the
next 12 months, will be approximately $0.7 million.

8. O THER C OMPREHENSIVE | NCOME

Other comprehensive income represents net incousetipé results of certain stockholders’ equity gesnnot reflected in the
Consolidated Income Statements. The componentthef comprehensive income are as follows (in thodsa

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income $21,55¢ $32,08¢ $31,90! $36,67"
Other comprehensive incorr

Unrealized derivative gains/(losses) on cashflodges 37 3,36¢ 65 3,84z
Amortization of hedging gains and losses includedther comprehensive incor 17t 46% 582 1,36(
Total other comprehensive incor 212 3,82¢ 647 5,20z
Total comprehensive incon $21,77. $35,91¢ $32,55( $41,87¢
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

9. DISCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG - LIVED A SSETS

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Wkigercedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the linmpant of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be disposedantf the accounting and reporting provisions fepdsals of a segment of business as
addressed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion B “Reporting the Results of Operations-Repgrtime Effects of the Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusudlr@requently Occurring Events and Transactions.”

The net operating results and net carrying valuke ®fmnillion square feet of property, 122.8 acresegenue-producing land and four
apartment units sold during 2004 and 2003 and @lBmsquare feet of property and 88 apartmentauheld for sale at September 30, 2004
are shown in the following table. These long-lias$ets relate to disposal activities that werébeil subsequent to the effective date of
SFAS No. 144 and are classified as discontinuedatipas in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statémsince the operations and cash
flows have been or will be eliminated from the oimgooperations of the Company and the Companyneiilhave any significant continuing
involvement in the operations after the disposatdaction (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Total revenue $ 1,467 $ 3,18/ $ 516( $11,25:
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen 73€ 1,39¢ 2,76¢ 4,22¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 12€ 83€ 1,10t 2,82¢
Total operating expens 862 2,23¢ 3,87: 7,052
Interest expense — 142 — 1,00(C
Other income 6 14 15 45
Income before minority interest in the Operating Patnership and gain on sale of
discontinued operations 611 82C 1,302 3,24¢
Minority interest in discontinued operatia (63) (90 (13%) (367)
Income from discontinued operations, net of minoriy interest in the Operating Partnershig b4¢ 73C 1,167 2,87¢
Gain on sale of discontinued operatit 703 8,35¢ 682 9,37:
Minority interest in discontinued operatia (73 (92¢) (73) (1,04)
Gain on sale/impairment of discontinued operationsnet of minority interest in the
Operating Partnership 63C 7,431 60¢ 8,331
Total discontinued operations $1,17¢ $ 8161 $ 1,77¢ $11,20¢
Carrying value of assets held for sale and assetsl@ during the period $27,27: $76,04¢ $27,27: $76,04¢

SFAS No. 144 also requires that a long-lived aslsssified as held for sale be measured at therlofiae carrying value or fair value
less cost to sell. During the nine months endededaper 30, 2004, the Company determined that tmegerties held for sale, of which one
has now been sold, had a carrying value that weatgr than fair value less cost to sell; therefaneimpairment loss of $3.5 million, net of
minority interest, was recognized in the Consokddhcome Statement for the nine months ended ®Séete30, 2004. For 2003, an
impairment loss related to one office property vehoarrying value was greater than its fair valss leost to sell, which has now been sold,
was $0.1 million. This impairment loss is includadyain on sale of discontinued operations in tbaesdlidated Income Statement for the |
months ended September 30, 2003.

SFAS No. 144 also requires that if indicators opainment exist, the carrying value of a long-livaes$et classified as held for use be
compared to the sum of its estimated undiscountead cash flows. If the carrying value is grediban the sum of its undiscounted future
cash flows, an impairment loss should be recogriiaethe excess of the carrying amount of the asget its estimated fair value. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2004, there wagroperty held for use with indicators of impairrharere the carrying value exceeds
the sum of estimated undiscounted future cash flthvesefore an impairment loss of $0.5 million tethto held for use properties was
recognized during the nine months ended Septenthex(®4.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

10. Stock —BASED C OMPENSATION

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounfitandards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-baseth@ensation — Transition and
Disclosure” (“SFAS No. 148"), the Company expenakstock options issued on or after January 1328@r the vesting period based upon
the fair value of the award on the date of gramn@&al and administrative expenses for the ninetinscended September 30, 2004 and 2003
include amortization related to the vesting of ktoptions granted subsequent to January 1, 2088.8fmillion and $0.04 million,
respectively. The unamortized value of option ggaimice January 1, 2003 aggregates $0.7 milliom b®®w for the amounts that would h
been deducted from net income if the Company hected to expense the fair value of all stock opéiards that had vested rather than only
those awards issued subsequent to January 1, 26QRi10ts are net of minority interest):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income attributable to common stockholc- as reportes $13,84¢ $24,37: $ 8,76¢ $13,53¢
Add: Stock option expense included in reportedimetme 32%(2) 42<(2) 715(2) 707(2)
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined ufaievalue
recognition method for all awar(1) (41¢) (2) (567) (2) (2,009 (1) (1,119 (2)

Pro forma net income attributable to common stotdédrs $13,75( $24,23¢ $ 8,471 $13,13¢
Basic net income per common sh- as reporte: $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.2¢
Basic net income per common sh- pro forma $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.2f
Diluted net income per common shi as reporte: $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.2t
Diluted net income per common sh«- pro forma $ 0.2t $ 0.4t $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.2f

(1) Amounts include the stock option expense remdid the first and second quarters of 2004 foratteelerated vesting related to the
retirement of the Compa’s Chief Executive Officer in June 2004 as well gsemse recorded for dividend equivalent rig

(2) Amounts include the effects of accounting for dand equivalent right:

11. COMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equiveleestments at financial institutions. The combiaedount balances at each
institution typically exceed the FDIC insurance emge and, as a result, there is a concentratioredit risk related to amounts on deposit in
excess of FDIC insurance coverage. ManagemenedEtmpany believes that the potential risk of issemote.

Contracts

The Company has entered into contracts relateghtant improvements and the development of certapepties totaling $54.2 million
as of September 30, 2004. The amounts remainibg fmaid under these contracts as of Septembe08@,tdtaled $27.0 million.
Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company'’s in-service pndi@s have been subjected to Phase | environmassalssments (and, in certain
instances, Phase Il environmental assessmentd).888essments and/or updates have not revealed,management aware of, any
environmental liability that management believesilddhave a material adverse effect on the accompgrgonsolidated Financial
Statements.
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11. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

Joint Ventures

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withfiiiated parties have buy/sell options that mayesercised to acquire the other
partner’s interest by either the Company or itatj@enture partner if certain conditions are metetdorth in the respective joint venture

agreement.

Guarantees and Other Obligations

The following is a tabular presentation and relatesgussion of various guarantees and other obdiggtas of September 30, 2004:

Entity or
Transaction

Des Moines Joint Venture(1),(6)
RRHWoods, LLC(2),(7)

Plaza Colonnad(2),(8)

Plaza Colonnad(2),(8)

SF-HIW Harborview, LP(3),(5)
SF-HIW Harborview, LP(3),(5)
Eastshore (Capital On(3),(9)
Capital One(3),(10)
Industrial(3),(11)

Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L(2),(12)
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partn(2),(13)

HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(3),(14)
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(3),(14)

Type of Guarantee
or Other Obligation

Debt

Debt

Construction loan and completi
Letter of credi

Rent and tenant improveme(4)
Purchase obligatio

Rent(4)

Rent(4)

Rent(4)

Rent(4)

Indirect Debi(4)

Rent(4)

Leasing cost

Amount

Recorded/

Deferred

Date
Guarantee
Expires

e e e R R R R R R

(in thousands)

2,84¢

13,72¢
1,402
1,82
85¢
1,29(
61%
2,62¢

Various
8/2006
2/2006

12/2004
9/2007
9/2015

11/2007

10/2009

12/2006
6/2008
6/2014
4/2011

12/2024

(1) Represents guarantees entered into prior to theadad, 2003 effective date of FIN 45 for initiakognition and measureme

(2) Represents guarantees that fall under the inég@dgnition and measurement requirements of FIM

(3) Represents guarantees that are excluded frerfaithvalue accounting and disclosure provisiohnsIN 45 since the existence of such

guarantees prevents sale treatment and/or themnigioogof profit from the sale transactic

(4) The maximum potential amount of future paymeligslosed below for these guarantees assumesotmp&y pays the maximum
possible liability under the guaranty with no offser reductions. If the space is leased, it assuheeexisting tenant defaults at
September 30, 2004 and the space remains unldaseglh the remainder of the guaranty term. If {h&ce is vacant, it assumes the
space remains vacant through the expiration ofjttaanty. Since it is assumed that no new tendhbegupy the space, lease

commissions, if applicable, are exclud

(5) As more fully described in Note 3, in 2002 empany granted its partner in $f¥W Harborview, LP a put option and also entered

a master lease arrangement for five years covedognt space in the building owned by the partrirshd agreed to pay certain tenant

improvement costs. The maximum potential amourftitofre payments the Company could be required tiemnelated to the rent
guarantees and tenant improvements is $1.2 mé®af September 30, 20(
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11. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

The Company has guaranteed certain loans inestion with the Des Moines joint ventures. The imaxn potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to makeruhdeguarantees is $24.9 million. Of this amo®8t6 million arose from housir
revenue bonds that require credit enhancementditi@n to the real estate mortgages. The bonds@#aating interest rate, which at
September 30, 2004 averaged 1.2% and mature in PaFantees of $9.4 million will expire upon twalustrial buildings becoming
93.8% and 95.0% leased or when the related loahsrenaAs of September 30, 2004, these buildingew&r5% and 75.0% leased,
respectively. The remaining $6.9 million in guasse relate to loans on four office buildings thatevin the lease-up phase at the time
the loans were initiated. Each of the loans wilpiex by May 2008. The average occupancy of the oildings at September 30, 2004
is 92.0%. If the joint ventures are unable to retheyoutstanding balance under the loans, the Coynwal be required, under the terms
of the agreements, to repay the outstanding bald&eeourse provisions exist to enable the Compamgdover some or all of such
payments from the joint ventures’ assets and/oother partner. The joint ventures currently geteesafficient cash flow to cover the
debt service required by the loa

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint verd, the Company renewed its guarantee of $6.2omilb a bank in July 2003; this
guarantee expires in August 2006 and may be renbwélse Company. The bank provides a letter ofitaturing industrial revenue
bonds, which mature in 2015. The Company wouldeogiired to perform under the guarantee shouldadiné yenture be unable to
repay the bonds. The Company has recourse prosigioorder to recover from the joint venture’s éssad the other partner for
amounts paid in excess of their proportionate shidve property collateralizing the bonds is 100lé%sed and currently generates
sufficient cash flow to cover the debt service isgghiby the bond financing. As a result, no lidlilias been recorded in the Company’s
Balance Shee

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joieiture, the Company has included $2.8 millionthreo liabilities and adjusted the
investment in unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8lianil on its Consolidated Balance Sheet at Septe®®e2004 related to two separate
guarantees of a construction loan agreement andstraction completion agreement. The construdban matures in February 2006,
with two one-year options to extend the maturittedhat are conditional on completion and leasefuthe project. The term of the
construction completion agreement requires the andeshell of the building to be completed by Delgent5, 2005. Currently, the
building is scheduled to be completed in DecemB@A2Both guarantees arose from the formation@fdmt venture to construct an
office building. If the joint venture is unable tepay the outstanding balance under the construliam agreement or complete the
construction of the office building, the Companyulbbe required, under the terms of the agreemenmtepay its 50.0% share of the
outstanding balance under the construction loancantplete the construction of the office buildi@n March 30, 2004, the Industrial
Development Authority of the City of Kansas Cityjdgouri issued $18.5 million in non-recourse botadfinance public improvements
made by the joint venture for the benefit of thenBas City Missouri Public Library. Since the joieinture leases the land for the office
building from the library, the joint venture is a@ated to build certain public improvements. Thebend proceeds of $16.3 million will
be used to reimburse the joint venture for its086 funds are transferred from the bond fundhéoconstruction lender, the Compasy’
exposure is reduced. The maximum potential amalufuttare payments by the Company under these agreemnis $27.6 million if the
construction loan is fully funded. No recourse ps@ns exist that would enable the Company to recérom the other partner amounts
paid under the guarantee. However, given thataée is collateralized by the building, the Compand their partner could obtain and
liquidate the building to recover the amounts siduld the Company be required to perform undegtia@antee

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC construttaman and completion agreement described aboggaltners collectively provided
$12.0 million in letters of credit in December 2088.0 million by the Company and $6.0 million lby partner. The Company and its
partner would be held liable under the letter efdiragreements should the joint venture not coteenstruction of the building. The
letters of credit expire on December 31, 2004. &mmurse provisions exist that would enable the Gompo recover from the other
partner amounts drawn under the letter of credie Building is nearing completion and the firstaienis expected to take occupancy in
the fourth quarter of 2004.

As more fully described in Note 3, in connentiith the sale of three office buildings to a thiarty in 2002 (the “Eastshore”
transaction), the Company agreed to guaranteeshamtfalls and re-tenanting costs for a five-yesniqul of time from the date of sale
(i.e., through November 2007). The maximum potéatiaount of future payments related to this guaarhe Company could be
required to make as of September 30, 2004 is $hBlidn. These three buildings are currently leated single tenant, Capital One
Services, Inc., a subsidiary of Capital One Finaln8ervices, Inc., under leases that expire frony RI1206 to March 201(
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

11. CommITMENTS A ND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

In connection with an unrelated dispositior2®8,000 square feet of property in 2003 (the “@d@ne” transaction), which was fully
leased to Capital One Services, Inc., a subsidib@apital One Financial Services, Inc., the Conypagreed to guarantee to the buyer,
over various contingency periods through Octob&92@ny rent shortfalls on certain space. Becatif@soguarantee, in accordance
with SFAS No. 66, the Company deferred $4.4 milladnhe total $8.4 million gain. The deferred pontiof the gain is recognized when
each contingency period is concluded. As a rethdtCompany recognized $1.3 million of the defeigath in 2003 and an additional
$1.7 million during the nine months ended Septen30e2004. The Company’s remaining contingent lighdf $1.4 million with

respect to the guarantee is included in the defagyaén as of September 30, 20

In December 2003, the Company sold 1.9 miliqnare feet of industrial property for $58.4 roifliin cash, a $5.0 million note
receivable that bears interest at 12.0% and afilllidn note receivable that bears interest at 8.0%addition, the Company agreed to
guarantee, over various contingency periods thrddgtember 2006, any rent shortfalls on 16.3% ofémeable square footage of the
industrial property, which is occupied by two tetsaiThe Company’s contingent liability with respesuch guarantee as of September
30, 2004 is $1.8 million. The total gain as a reefithe transaction was $5.2 million. Becausetéims of the notes require only interest
payments to be made by the buyer until 2005, in@znce with SFAS No. 66, the entire $5.2 milli@ingwas deferred and offset
against the note receivable on the balance shdeharcost recovery method is being used for thissaction. Accordingly, once
sufficient principal amounts have been paid onnibie receivable so that the note receivable balenegual to the deferred gain, the
gain will be recognized as additional paymentsnaaele on the note

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP jounture, a single tenant currently leases aneehtilding under a lease scheduled to
expire June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases @&patieer buildings owned by the Company. In confiorcwith an overall restructuring
of the tenant’s leases with the Company and withjtint venture, the Company agreed to certaimgka to the lease with the joint
venture in September 2003. The modifications inelalfowing the tenant to terminate the lease onaignl, 2006, reducing the rent
obligation by 50.0% and converting the “net” lets@ “full service” lease with the tenant liable &0.0% of these costs beginning
January 1, 2006. In turn, the Company agreed tgeosate the joint venture for any economic lossesried as a result of these lease
modifications. Based on the lease guarantee agrgethe Company recorded approximately $0.9 millioother liabilities and
recorded a deferred charge of $0.9 million in Smyser 2003. However, should new tenants occupy déleated space during the two i

a half year guarantee period, the Company’s lighilnder the guarantee would diminish. The Companyaximum potential amount of
future payments with regards to this guaranted &eptember 30, 2004 is $1.1 million. No recounse/zions exist to enable the
Company to recover the amounts paid to the jointwe under this lease guarantee arranger

RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners admleloped a new office building in Des Moines, lo@a June 25, 2004, the joint
ventures financed both buildings with a $7.4 milli0-year loan from a bank. As an inducement toarih& loan at 6.3% long-term
rate, the Company and its partner agreed to mkestee the vacant space and guaranteed $1.6 molic&0.8 million each, with limited
recourse. As leasing improves, the obligations otfteloan agreement diminish. As of Septembef804, the Company recorded $
million in other liabilities and $1.3 million asdeferred charge on its Consolidated Balance Shigetr@spect to this guarantee. The
maximum potential amount of future payments that@ompany could be required to make based on thentueases in place is
approximately $4.7 million as of September 30, 200 likelihood of the Company paying on its $t@lion guarantee is remote
since the master lease payments provide the rebiiBedebt coverage ratio and should the Compawy ttapay, it would recover the
$0.8 million from other joint venture asse

As more fully described in Note 2, in connentivith the formation of HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, theo@pany agreed to guarantee rent to
the joint venture for 3,248 rentable square featro@ncing in August 2004 and expiring in April 20Atditionally, the Company
agreed to guarantee leasing costs for approximafe%o of the joint venture’s total square footalfee Company believes its estimate
related to the leasing costs guarantee is acciHateever, if the Compar' s assumptions prove to be incorrect, future losssgoccur

Litigation

The Company is party to a variety of legal procegdiarising in the ordinary course of its busin@g® Company believes that it is

adequately covered by insurance. Accordingly, nafreuch proceedings are expected to have a masetvarse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition or results of operadi
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

12. SEGMENT | NFORMATION

The sole business of the Company is the acquisitienelopment and operation of rental real estaipasties. The Company operates
office, industrial and retail properties and apamtunits. There are no material inter-segmensaetions.

The Company'’s chief operating decision maker (“CDls8sesses and measures operating results basefraperty level net operati
income. The operating results for the individuaeds within each property type have been aggregated the CDM evaluates operating
results and allocates resources on a property-tyyepty basis within the various property types.

All operations are within the United States an@eptember 30, 2004, no tenant of the Company’siwbained properties, which
includes in-service properties (excluding apartmanits) to which the Company has title and 100.@%ership rights, comprises more than
10.0% of the respective consolidated revenuesfdllmving table summarizes the rental income, narating income and assets for each
reportable segment for the three and nine monttisceBeptember 30, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003

Rental and Other Revenues (1)

Office segmen $ 95,787 $102,15¢ $ 296,59! $ 312,83¢

Industrial segmer 8,87 10,32: 25,40« 30,70¢

Retail segmer 9,251 8,93: 28,05( 28,39t

Apartment segmel 34¢ 34¢ 1,041 1,02¢
Total Rental and Other Revenue: $114,26( $121,75! $ 351,08t $ 372,96¢
Net Operating Income (1):

Office segmen $ 59,10« $ 64,17« $ 184,29¢ $ 198,94

Industrial segmer 6,894 8,321 19,67: 24,62

Retail segmer 6,43: 6,142 19,271 19,81¢

Apartment segmel 13€ 13¢€ 40z 427
Total Net Operating Income $ 72567 $ 78,78. $ 223,65( $ 243,81:
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proerty, ca-venture expense

minority interest and equity of unconsolidated affliates:

Depreciation and amortizatic $(33,419 $(34,05() $ (103,109 $ (105,39

Interest expens (27,796 (36,129 (90,570 (107,41

Impairment of assets held for L (500 — (500) —

General and administrative expel (10,089 (6,750 (28,625 (18,387

Interest and other incon 1,73¢ 1,42t 4,97( 4,47(

Settlement of bankruptcy clai 14,43¢ — 14,43¢ —

Loss on debt extinguishme — — (12,457 (14,657

Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior — 16,30: — 16,30:
Income before disposition of property, co-venture xpense, minority interest and

equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $16,93: $ 1958 $ 7,794 $ 18,74(
September 30,
2004 2003

Total Assets:

Office segmen $2,588,81' $2,834,72

Industrial segmer 266,87 341,77(

Retail segmer 265,45: 278,11:

Apartment segmel 14,34¢ 14,11¢

Corporate and othe 180,65 161,06!
Total Assets $3,316,14! $3,629,79.



1)

Net of discontinued operatior
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

13. OTHER E VENTS
Retirement of Chief Executive Officer

As previously announced, the Company’s Chief Exeeudfficer retired June 30, 2004. In connectiothwiis retirement, the
Company'’s Board of Directors approved a retirenpartkage for him that included a lump-sum cash paynaecelerated vesting of stock
options and restricted stock, extended lives aflstiptions and continued coverage under the Comp&galth and life insurance plan for
three years at the Company’s expense. Under GA#fPshianges to existing stock options and restristeck give rise to new measurement
dates and revised compensation computations. Qearetadministrative expense for the nine monttiedrSeptember 30, 2004 includes the
total cost of $4.6 million for the retirement pagka

WorldCom/MCI Settlement

On July 21, 2002, WorldCom filed a voluntary petitiwith the United States Bankruptcy Court seekeligf under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code. In connection withbiankruptcy filing, WorldCom rejected leases wlitt Company encompassing 819,
square feet including the entire 816,000 squareHighwoods Preserve office campus in Tampa, Féorithe Company submitted
bankruptcy claims against WorldCom aggregating $2dillion related to these rejected leases andratteters. WorldCom emerged from
bankruptcy (now MCI, Inc.) on April 20, 2004. On @gust 27, 2004, the Company and various MCI subsédiand affiliates (the “MCI
Entities”) executed a settlement agreement. Theesgent provides that the MCI Entities will pay @@mpany approximately $8.6 million in
cash and also transfer to it approximately 3408l@0res of new MCI, Inc. stock. The Company recetheds8.6 million cash payment and
the MCI, Inc. stock in September 2004. The Compsoigt the stock for net proceeds of approximately $illion, and recorded the full
settlement of approximately $14.4 million as Otlmome in the third quarter of 2004.

14. SUBSEQUENT E VENTS
Mortgages and Notes Payabl

In October 2004, the Company obtained a waiver filoenenders of the CompamsyRevolving Loan and two bank term loans for cal
covenant violations caused by the effects of tise tin debt extinguishment from the MOPPRS trarmaati early 2003. The waiver did not
change any economic terms of the loan, althouglCtvapany incurred certain loan costs that weretaliged and amortized over the
remaining term of the loans.

Dispositions
In November 2004, the Company sold Highwoods Bssirizark in Charlotte, North Carolina for gross peats of $9.5 million. This

park consists of nine buildings encompassing apprately 162,700 square feet that was, on aver&®)d% occupied. In addition, in October
2004, the Company sold 20.0 acres of non-coreilak@nsas City for gross proceeds of $5.5 million.

On November 23, 2004, the Company sold a 165,008redoot building located in Orlands, Florida wétimet book value of
approximately $9.7 million. Net proceeds from théesvere approximately $6.4 million. The buildinig dot meet the criteria to be classified
as held for the sale until November 2004 and &salt, the Company has recognized an impairmeatdbapproximately $3.3 million in
November 2004
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith all of the financial statements appeartggwhere in the report and is based
primarily on the Consolidated Financial Statemefitdie Company.

D 1SCLOSURE R EGARDING F ORWARD - LOOKING S TATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly ReportForm 10-Q may contain forward-looking stateme8tsch statements include, in
particular, statements about our plans, strategidsprospects under this section and under thargedusiness.” You can identify forward-
looking statements by our use of forward-lookingri@ology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticigte,” “estimate,” “continue” or other
similar words. Although we believe that our plaingentions and expectations reflected in or suggkby such forwardboking statements a
reasonable, we cannot assure you that our plaesitions or expectations will be achieved. Whersatgring such forward-looking
statements, you should keep in mind the followmgartant factors that could cause our actual resoltiffer materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statement:

» speculative development activity by our compesitio our existing markets could result in an esdassupply of office, industrial
and retail properties relative to tenant dem:

» the financial condition of our tenants could deisate;

* we may not be able to complete development, adapri, reinvestment, disposition or joint ventprejects as quickly or on as
favorable terms as anticipate

e we may not be able to lease or release space yuickin as favorable terms as old lea

* an unexpected increase in interest rates woul@&ser our debt service cos

* we may not be able to continue to meet our -term liquidity requirements on favorable terr
» we could lose key executive officers; ¢

e our southeastern and midwestern markets may sadfditional declines in economic grow

” o ” o« ” o

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, a$ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also vevie cautionary statements we make
in “Business — Risk Factors” set forth in our 2@08ended Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Given these uncertainties, we caution you notagg@undue reliance on forward-looking statemenes.uMtlertake no obligation to
publicly release the results of any revisions &sthforward-looking statements that may be madefliect any future events or circumstances
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated event

Overview

We are a fully integrated, self-administered REi@ittprovides leasing, management, developmentirootion and other customer-
related services for our properties and for thiadtips. As of September 30, 2004, we own or havietanest in 525 in-service office,
industrial and retail properties encompassing apprately 41.4 million square feet. We also own D,2@res of development land which is
suitable to develop approximately 13.9 million adte square feet of office, industrial and retpdee. We are based in Raleigh, North
Carolina, and our properties and development laedogated in Florida, Georgia, lowa, Kansas, Mamgl, Missouri, North Carolina, South
Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia.
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Property Information

The following table sets forth certain informatierth respect to our Wholly Owned Properties and adewrelopment properties

(excluding apartment units) as of September 30420l 2003:

In-Service:
Office (1)
Industrial
Retail (2)

Total

Development:
Completec—Not Stabilized (3)
Office (1)
Industrial

Total

In Process
Office (1)
Industrial

Total
Total:
Office (1)
Industrial
Retail (2)

Total

(1) Substantially all of our Office properties are ltazhin suburban market

September 30, 2004

September 30, 2003

Percent

Percent

Rentable Leased/ Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec Square Feet Pre-Leasec
25,151,00 80.%  25,710,00 79.4%
7,992,00! 88.4% 9,934,001 88.(%
1,410,00! 94.5% 1,527,00! 96.5%
34,553,00 83.2% 37,171,00 82.4%
— — 140,00( 30.(%
350,00( 100.(% 60,00( 50.(%
350,00( 100.(% 200,00( 36.(%
333,00( 100.(% — —
— — 350,00( 100.(%
333,00( 100.(% 350,00( 100.(%
25,484,00 25,850,00
8,342,001 10,344,000
1,410,00! 1,527,00!
35,236,00 37,721,00

(2) Excludes basement space in the Country Club Plegzepy of 418,000 square fe
(3) Not stabilized is generally defined as less tha¥h @& cupied or a year from completic
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The following tables set forth scheduled leaseratipins at our Wholly Owned Properties as of Sepem30, 2004, assuming no tenant
exercises renewal options.

Office Propetrties:

Average Percent of
Rentable Percentage of Annual Annualized
Square Feet Leased Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenur
Subject to Square Footag Rental Revenur Per Square Represented b
Expiring Represented b Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Expirations Leases (2)
(in thousands)
2004 (three monthg(3) 630,57¢ 3.1% $ 11,15% $ 17.6¢ 3.1%
2005 3,300,58! 16.2 61,17¢ 18.5¢ 17.C
2006 3,294,36: 16.2 61,41 18.6¢ 17.1
2007 2,089,23: 10.c 35,31 16.9( 9.8
2008 3,182,19: 15.€ 51,95 16.3: 14.5
2009 2,701,401 13.: 45,44 16.82 12.%
2010 1,532,96:! 7.5 30,85¢ 20.1: 8.€
2011 1,316,84: 6.5 23,25 17.6¢€ 6.5
2012 690,44¢ 3.4 13,40: 19.41 3.7
2013 553,02¢ 2.7 9,21« 16.6¢€ 2.€
Thereafte 1,058,14. 5.2 15,80¢ 14.9¢ 4.4
20,349,79 100.(% $ 358,98! $ 17.6¢ 100.(%
Industrial Properties:
Average Percent of
Rentable Percentage of Annual Annualized
Square Fee Leased Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenur
Subject to Square Footag¢ Rental Revenur Per Square Represented b
Expiring Represented by Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Expirations Leases (2)
(in thousands)
2004 (three months(4) 505,28’ 7.C% $ 2,01¢ $ 3.9¢ 6.C%
2005 1,839,19: 25.€ 8,13¢ 4.4z 24.1
2006 993,82: 13.¢ 5,14 5.1¢ 15.2
2007 1,891,32. 26.4 8,70¢ 4.6( 25.7
2008 368,82: 5.1 1,98 5.3 5.9
2009 620,95: 8.€ 3,48¢ 5.62 10.:
2010 131,04( 1.8 592 457 1.8
2011 152,74 2.1 724 474 2.1
2012 109,84( 1.5 43t 3.9¢ 1.3
2013 102,38 14 61z 5.9¢ 1.8
Thereatftel 485,77¢ 6.7 1,94¢ 4.01 5.8
7,201,18! 100.(% $ 33,78¢ $ 4.6¢ 100.(%

(1) Includes effects of any early renewals exercisetehgnts on or before September 30, 2

(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is September 2004 rezahue (base rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
(3) Includes 149,000 square feet of leases that aeemanth to month basis or 0.7% of total annualize@nue

(4) Includes 165,000 square feet of leases that asernanth to month basis or 0.2% of total annualize@nue
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Retail Properties:

Average Percent of
Rentable Percentage of Annual Annualized
Square Fee Leased Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenur
Subject to Square Footag¢ Rental Revenur Per Square Represented b
Expiring Represented by Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Expirations Leases (2)
(in thousands)
2004 (three monthy(3) 25,58: 1.8% $ 49t $ 19.3¢ 1.4%
2005 110,59 8.3 2,71¢ 24.5¢ 7.8
2006 92,28: 6.9 2,34f 25.41] 6.8
2007 76,68: 5.8 2,141 27.9: 6.2
2008 131,00: 9.8 3,70¢ 28.2¢ 10.7
2009 188,10! 14.1 4,541 24.1¢ 13.1
2010 71,07¢ 5.3 2,29¢ 32.3¢ 6.€
2011 53,83: 4.C 1,80( 33.4¢ 5.2
2012 136,04 10.z 3,61 26.5¢ 10.4
2013 108,86¢ 8.2 2,681 24.6: 7.7
Thereafte 338,68t 25.F 8,33( 24.6( 24.1
1,332,75. 100.(% $ 34,66¢ $ 26.0] 100.(%
Total:
Average Percent of
Rentable Percentage of Annual Annualized
Square Feet Leased Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenur
Subject to Square Footag Rental Revenur Per Square Represented b
Expiring Represented b Under Expiring Foot for Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Expirations Leases (2)
(in thousands)
2004 (three month(4) 1,161,44! 40% $ 1367C $ 11.77 3.2%
2005 5,250,38: 18.: 72,03: 13.72 16.€
2006 4,380,46 15.2 68,90¢ 15.7: 16.1
2007 4,057,23! 14.C 46,15¢ 11.3¢ 10.€
2008 3,682,02! 12.7 57,64( 15.6¢ 13.5
2009 3,510,46. 12.2 53,47 15.2:¢ 12.t
2010 1,735,08. 6.C 33,74¢ 19.4¢ 7.8
2011 1,523,42. 5.2 25,771 16.92 6.C
2012 936,33 3.2 17,45: 18.6¢ 4.1
2013 764,27¢ 2.€ 12,50¢ 16.31 2.9
Thereatftel 1,882,60! 6.5 26,08: 13.8¢ 6.1
28,883,73 100.(% $ 427,44 $ 14.8( 100.(%

(1) Includes effects of any early renewals exercisetehgnts on or before September 30, 2

(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is September 2004 rezahue (base rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
(3) Includes 19,000 square feet of leases that arenoongh to month basis or 0.1% of total annualizacgnue

(4) Includes 333,000 square feet of leases that aeeranth to month basis or 1.0% of total annualize@nue

Capital Recycling Program

Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitéediin markets where we believe our extensival&nowledge gives us a competit
advantage over other real estate developers amdtope Through our capital recycling program, weeyally seek to:

. engage in the development of office and indulgtrigjects in our existing geographic markets, ity in suburban business
parks;
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. acquire selective suburban office and induspriaperties in our existing geographic markets eggrbelow replacement cost
that offer attractive returns; ai

. selectively dispose of n-core properties or other properties in order totheenet proceeds for investments or other purp

Our capital recycling activities benefit from oochl market presence and knowledge. Our divisifinars have significant real estate
experience in their respective markets. Based isrettperience, we believe that we are in a betisitipn to evaluate capital recycling
opportunities than many of our competitors. In &ddj our relationships with our tenants and thiesants at properties for which we conc
third-party fee-based services may lead to devedopiprojects when these tenants seek new space.

The following summarizes the change in our Whollyr@d Properties:

Nine Months Endec

Year Ended
September 30, 200 December 31, 20C
Office, Industrial and Retail Properties
(rentable square feet in thousan
Dispositions (617) (3,299
Contributions to Joint Venture (1,270 (297)
Developments Placed-Service 141 191
Redevelopment — (221)
Acquisitions (including 1,319 from a joint venture2003 and 1,358 from
two joint ventures in 2004 1,35¢ 1,42¢
Net Change of Ir-Service Wholly Owned Properties (38¢) (2,190

Customer Information

The following table sets forth information concengithe 20 largest customers of our Wholly OwnedpBrites as of September 30, 2
($ in thousands):

Percent of Total Average
Rental Annualized Annualized Remaining Leas

Customer Square Fee Rental Revenue (1 Rental Revenue(1 Term in Years

(in thousands)

Federal Governmel 1,084,07! $ 20,36 4.7¢% 6.4
AT&T 541,31: 10,21: 2.3¢ 4.3
PricewaterhouseCoope 297,79! 7,31: 1.71 5.€
State of Georgi 365,07¢ 7,13¢ 1.67 4.4
Sara Lee 1,195,38 4,682 1.1C 2.8
IBM 194,93: 4,10¢ 0.9¢ 14
Northern Telecon 246,00( 3,651 0.8t 3.4
Volvo 270,77: 3,50z 0.8z 4.8
US Airways(2) 295,04t 3,37¢ 0.7¢ 3.2
Lockton Companie 132,71 3,30: 0.77 10.4
BB&T 229,45¢ 3,23¢ 0.7¢€ 6.8
T-Mobile USA 120,56: 3,05¢ 0.7z 1.8
Bank of Americe 151,63: 3,042 0.71 4.7
ITC Deltacom(3) 147,37¢ 2,987 0.7¢C 0.€
CHS Professional Servic 162,37- 2,89¢ 0.6¢ 2.3
Ford Motor Compan 125,98¢ 2,72 0.64 5.4
MCI 132,20t 2,621 0.61 1.8
IKON 181,36: 2,60¢ 0.61 3.1
Hartford Insuranc 116,01( 2,50¢ 0.5¢ 2.1
Aspect Communicatior 116,69: 2,32¢ 0.54 2.2
Total 6,106,78. $ 95,65¢ 22.3% 4.5

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is September 2004 reztahue (base rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
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(2) In August 2002, US Airways filed voluntary gains for reorganization under Chapter 11 of theBd®kruptcy Code. US Airways
emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection imai2003. On September 12, 2004, US Airways agdkaid foluntary petitions for
reorganization under Chapter 11. No action has baem today with respect to the Comg’s leases with US Airway

(3) ITC Deltacom (formerly Business Telecom) isdted in a property that, as of September 30, 2804hder contract for sale. Although
no assurances can be made, the sale is expeatldéan late 2004 or early 20(

Results of Operations

During the nine months ended September 30, 20@togimately 84.5% of our rental revenue was derifreth our office properties.
As a result, while we own and operate a limited benof industrial and retail properties, our op@gtesults depend heavily on successfully
leasing our office properties. Furthermore, sinaeshof our office properties are located in Floyi@&orgia and North Carolina, employment
growth in those states is and will continue to bénaportant determinative factor in predicting duture operating results.

The key components affecting our revenue streamaaege occupancy and rental rates. During thespasral years, as the average
occupancy of our portfolio has decreased, our ganmgerty rental revenue has declined. Average amueypgenerally increases during times
of improving economic growth, as our ability todeaspace outpaces vacancies that occur upon tirateoqs of existing leases, while
average occupancy generally declines during tinhetower economic growth, when new vacancies temaltpace our ability to lease space.
Asset acquisitions and dispositions also impactental revenues and could impact our average acayp depending upon the occupancy
percentage of the properties that are acquiredldr s

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagapancy proportionally depends upon whether rendieunew leases are higher or
lower than the rents under the previous leasesaVleage straight-lined rate per square foot onleages signed during the nine months
ended September 30, 2004 in our Wholly Owned Ptigsawas 0.3% lower than the average rate per edaat on the expiring leases. A
further indicator of the predictability of futurewenues is the expected lease expirations of atfiopo. Our average suburban office lease
term, excluding renewal periods is 4.5 years. Ledsat will expire during the last three month2004 and which have not been renewed as
of September 30, 2004 approximate 1.2 million sgdeet of space. This square footage representsxpately 3.2% of our annualized
revenue. As of September 30, 2004, based on asinteafforts since December 31, 2003 and on otttarity, such as early lease
terminations, the occupancy rate for our Wholly @aiProperties improved to 83.2%. As a result, mlitaah to seeking to increase our
average occupancy by leasing current vacant spacalso must concentrate our leasing efforts oawarg leases on expiring space. For
more information regarding our lease expiratioeg, ‘$roperties — Lease Expirations.”

Our expenses primarily consist of depreciation amartization, general and administrative expensegal property expenses and
interest expense. Depreciation and amortizati@rien-cash expense associated with the ownershgabproperty and generally remains
relatively consistent each year, unless we buyelbassets, since we depreciate our propertiesstramht-line basis. General and
administrative expenses, net of amounts capitaretlexcluding retirement compensation, consistgrily of management and employee
salaries and other personnel costs, corporate eadrind longerm incentive compensation. Rental property expgnse expenses associs
with our ownership and operating of rental progartind include variable expenses, such as comreamaintenance and utilities, and fixed
expenses, such as property taxes and insurance &dmese variable expenses may be lower as @nag& occupancy declines, while the
fixed expenses remain constant regardless of agaregupancy. Interest expense depends upon thenawfoour borrowings, the weighted
average interest rates on our debt and the amapitatized on development projects.

We also record income from our investments in usobdated affiliates, which are our joint ventusesept for one joint venture, whi
is included in our Consolidated Financial Stateraesta result of our continuing involvement with firoperties — see Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. We record imitgdn earnings of unconsolidated affiliatesir proportionate share of the unconsolid
joint venture’ net income or loss. During the first three questef 2004, income earned from our unconsolidatéd yentures aggregated
$5.4 million which represented approximately 17.dP6ur total net income.
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Additionally, Statement of Financial Accounting Sdards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impaient or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” requires us to record net incomeivecefrom properties sold or held for sale sepdyats “income from discontinued
operations.’As a result, we separately record revenues anchegpdrom these properties. During the nine moarticked September 30, 201
income, including gains and losses from the safgaperties, from discontinued operations accountieidh represented approximately 5.6%
of our total net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space t@astomers and to maintain the quality of our prieg to successfully compete
against other properties. Tenant improvementsheredsts required to customize the space for theifspneeds of the customer. Lease
commissions are costs incurred to find space ®ictistomer. Building improvements are recurringtahposts not related to a customer to
maintain the buildings. As leases expire, we eigiEmpt to relet the space to an existing custamattract a new customer to occupy the
space. Generally, customer renewals require logasihg capital than reletting to a new customewéi@r, market conditions such as supply
of available space on the market, as well as derfargpace, drive not only customer rental ratesatso tenant improvement costs. Leasing
capital expenditures are amortized over the terth@fease and building improvements are depretiater the appropriate useful life of the
assets acquired. Both are included in depreciatimhamortization in results of operations.

Because we are a REIT, we are required under trerdbtax laws to distribute at least 90.0% of RET taxable income to our
stockholders. We generally use rents received frostomers to fund our operating expenses, recucapgal expenditures, debt securities,
guarantee obligations and stockholder dividendsufid property acquisitions, development activitybailding renovations, we incur debt
from time to time. As of September 30, 2004, we approximately $819.1 million of secured debt ansing and $781.5 million of
unsecured debt outstanding. Our debt consists digange debt, unsecured debt securities and borgswinder our $250.0 million revolving
loan (the “Revolving Loan”). As of November 18, 200ve have $77.8 million of additional borrowingadlability under our Revolving Loan
and our short-term cash needs (for the remaind20@4) include, among other things, the fundin§@# million in development activity and
$205.1 million in principal payments due on ourdeterm debt.

Our Revolving Loan and the indenture governingautstanding long-term unsecured debt securitiel esgquire us to satisfy various
operating and financial covenants and performaates. As a result, to ensure that we do not wolhé provisions of these debt instruments,
we may from time to time be limited in undertakiceytain activities that may otherwise be in thet rggrest of our stockholders, such as
repurchasing capital stock, acquiring additionak#s increasing the total amount of our debthoreiasing stockholder dividends. We review
our current and expected operating results, firdmandition and planned strategic actions on ayomny basis for the purpose of monitoring
our continued compliance with these covenants atids. While we are currently in compliance witlesk covenants and ratios and expect to
remain so for the foreseeable future, we cannatigecany assurance of such continued complianceaapdailure to remain in compliance
could result in an acceleration of some or allaf debt, severely restrict our ability to incur @ahal debt to fund short- and long-term cash
needs, or result in higher interest expense. SéesNiband 14 to the Consolidated Financial Stat&sifendisclosure regarding a waiver of
and amendments to these covenants.

To generate additional capital to fund our growtHd ather strategic initiatives and to lessen thaerahip risks typically associated w
owning 100.0% of a property, we may sell some afoperties or contribute them to joint ventuhdhen we create a joint venture with a
strategic partner, we usually contribute one orermoperties that we own and/or vacant land toveynformed entity in which we retain an
interest of 50.0% or less. In exchange for our queninority interest in the joint venture, we geally receive cash from the partner and
retain all of the management income relating topttogperties in the joint venture. The joint ventitself will frequently borrow money on its
own behalf to finance the acquisition of and/omrl@age the return upon the properties being acqbiyate joint venture or to build or acquire
additional buildings, typically on a naecourse or limited recourse basis. We generadiynat liable for the debts of our joint ventures;epi
to the extent of our equity investment, unless aeehdirectly guaranteed any of that debt. In mases, we and/or our strategic partners are
required to guarantee customary exceptions to aoadrse liability in non-recourse loans. See Ndt¢olthe Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information on certaibtdguarantees.
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We have historically also sold additional Commoac&tor Preferred Stock, or issued Common Unitaitwlfadditional growth or to
reduce our debt, but we have limited those effdutsng the past five years because funds genefiatadour capital recycling program in
recent years have provided sufficient funds. Initimtl we used funds from our capital recyclingépurchase Common Stock in 2003, 2002
and 2001 and Preferred Stock in 2001.

Management’s Analysis

We believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) arktOFper share are beneficial to management andtorgesnd are important
indicators of the performance of any equity REI'€cBuse FFO and FFO per share calculations excllfefactors as depreciation and
amortization or real estate assets and gains sesdsom sales of operating real estate assetst{whn vary among owners of identical assets
in similar condition based on historical cost agtting and useful life estimates), they facilitatenparisons of operating performance
between periods and between other REITs. Our mamaxgtebelieves that historical cost accounting éal estate assets in accordance with
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GRA implicitly assumes that the value of real estdsets diminishes predictably over
time. Since real estate values instead have hisityririsen or fallen with market conditions, mangustry investors and analysts have
considered the presentation of operating resutteefal estate companies that use historical castumting to be insufficient by themselves.
a result, management believes that the use of FIEB-BO per share, together with the required GAAFgntations, provides a more
complete understanding of the Compangérformance relative to its competitors and aemafiormed and appropriate basis on which to n
decisions involving operating, financing and inwegtactivities. See “Funds From Operations.”
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R ESuLTS oF O PERATIONS

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144. Axithesl in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Stants, we reclassified the
operations and/or gain/(loss) from disposal ofaiarproperties to discontinued operations for atigds presented if the operations and cash
flows have been or will be eliminated from our oimgpoperations and we will not have any significamhtinuing involvement in the
operations after the disposal transaction and thpgsties were either sold during 2003 and 2004exe held for sale at September 30, 2004.
Accordingly, properties sold during 2003 and 20k did not meet certain conditions as stipulate@BAS No. 144 were not reclassified to
discontinued operations.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2004

The following table sets forth information regamgliour results of operations for the three montidedrSeptember 30, 2004 and 2003
(in millions):

Three Months Ended September 30,

% of

2004 2003 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $ 114.2 $ 121.¢ $ (7.9 (6.2)%
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 41.7 43.C 1.3 (3.0
Depreciation and amortizatic 33.4 34.C (0.6) (1.8
Impairment of assets held for L 0.t — 0.t 100.(
General and administratiy 10.1 6.8 3.3 48.t
Total operating expens 85.7 83.¢ 1.8 2.3
Interest expense
Contractua 25.€ 30.C (4.9 (14.9)
Amortization of deferred financing cos 0.8 1.7 (0.9 (52.9
Financing obligation 1.4 4.4 (3.0 (68.2)
27.¢ 36.1 (8.9 (23.0)
Other income/expense
Interest and other incon 1.7 14 0.3 21.4
Settlement of bankruptcy clai 14.4 — 14.4 100.(
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior — 16.2 (16.9) (200.0
16.1 17.7 (1.€) (9.0
Income before disposition of property, co-venture xpense, minority
interest and equity in earnings of unconcolidated filiates 16.€ 19.¢ 2.7 (13.9)
Gains on disposition of property, r 2.3 B3 3.2 (58.2)
Cao-venture expens — (0.3 0.3 (100.0
Minority interest in the Operating Partners (1.5 (2.0 0.t (25.0
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 2.€ 1.1 1.t 136.¢
Income from continuing operations 20.2 23.¢ (3.6 (15.7)
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi 0.€ 0.8 (0.2 (25.0
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomitiy interest 0.€ 7.4 (6.9 (91.9
1.2 8.2 (7.0) (85.4)
Net income 21.t 32.1 (10.6 (33.0
Dividends on preferred shar (7.7 (7.7) — —
Net income available for common stockholder $ 13.¢ $ 24.¢ $ (10.6) (43.9%

Rental and Other Revenues

The decrease in rental and other revenues fronincimg operations was primarily the result of thepdsition of certain properties in
2003 and 2004 that were not included in discontinygerations, which negatively impacted rental atter revenues by approximately $3.1
million; a slight decrease in average occupanasrat our Wholly Owned Properties from 83.2% far three months ended September



2003 to 82.8% for the three months ended SepteBhe2004; and a decrease of approximately $0.2amilh recovery income from
certain operating expenses in the three monthsdefidptember 30, 2004.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2004s@cond generation leases representing 1.7 miltjoare feet of office, industr
and retail space were executed in our Wholly OwPexperties. The average rate per square foot olAPGasis over the lease term for
these leases was 1.0% lower than the rent paiddwaqus customers.

As of the date of this filing, we are beginningste a modest improvement in employment trenddemwaf our markets and an
improving economic climate in the Southeast. Thee been modest positive absorption of office spao@ost of our markets during the last
five quarters. Accordingly, we expect our occuparatg to increase modestly during the remaind@06#.

Operating Expenses

The decrease in rental and other operating expérsaontinuing operations (real estate taxeéfiat, insurance, repairs and
maintenance and other property-related expensesaply resulted from the disposition of certairoperties in 2003 and 2004 that were not
included in discontinued operations, which posl{ivienpacted rental operating expenses by approxaty&0.6 million offset by general
inflationary increases, particularly salaries, Basgutility costs, real estate taxes and insueaawed the fact that certain fixed operating
expenses do not vary with net changes in our ocmyppercentages, such as real estate taxes, iwguaan utility rate changes.

Rental and other operating expenses as a percesftagietal and other revenues increased from 35@3%e three months ended
September 30, 2003 to 36.5% for the three monttiedkBeptember 30, 2004. The increase was a résldtoeases in rental and other
operating expenses as described above offsetdngerlproportional decrease in rental and othexmegs as describe above.

Excluding the effects of property acquisitions @pwsitions, we expect rental and other operatikpgeses to increase slightly in the
remainder of 2004 due to inflationary increases@lwith increases in certain fixed operating expsrthat do not vary with occupancy.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization ftominuing operations is primarily related to thepwsition of certain properties sold
in 2003 and 2004 which were not included in distargd operations, and a decrease in leasing conamésand tenant improvement
amortization.

The increase in general and administrative expemsearily relates to: (1) increased costs of pen&b and consultants in connection
with implementing the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and ttstatement of the Company’s financial statemenjshigher long-term incentive
compensation costs, (3) higher salary, fringe bieaafl employee relocation costs, and (4) increasstb related to a strategic transaction
terminated in the third quarter of 2004.

In the remainder of 2004, general and administeatixpenses are expected to increase compared3al@@to inflationary increases in
compensation, benefits and other expenses relatie implementation of the Sarbar@sley Act, professional fees and other costs rdlad
consideration of a strategic transaction that vimzerred largely in the third quarter 2004, andfessional fees and other costs related to the
restatement of the Company’s financial statements.

I nterest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest was primdrily to a decrease in average interest rates oraodisg debt from 6.56% in the three
months ended September 30, 2003 to 6.42% in tke thonths ended September 30, 2004, primarily aaedebt refinancing completed in
December 2003 and a decrease in average borrofworgs1.8 billion in the three months ended Septend®, 2003 to $1.6 billion in the
three months ended September 30, 2004. These desreare partly offset by slightly lower capitatizaterest in 2004 compared to 2003
due to lower average construction and developmestsc
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The decrease in interest expense on financing atiig was primarily a result of the purchase of pantner’s interest in the Orlando
City Group properties in MG-HIW, LLC in March 20@vhich eliminated interest on the $62.5 million fiting obligation. (See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation on real estate sales that are accounteakffinancing transactions).

Total interest expense is expected to declineanrémainder of 2004 primarily due to (1) the DecentD03 refinancing of certain long-
term debt with new borrowings that have lower iegtrates, and (2) the June 2004 refinancing oPthlieOption Notes with borrowings on
Company’s Revolving Loan which currently has loviteating rate interest. Certain of these transastiare discussed in the footnotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. This decline beaglightly offset by any increases in average datances resulting from acquisitions or
other activities.

Other Income/Expense

The increase in interest and other income is pilynaglated to the interest received during theethmonths ended September 30, 2004
related to a note receivable acquired in conneatitim the disposition of certain properties in 2088d higher interest rates earned on cash
reserves.

In the three months ended September 30, 2004, ceévexl net proceeds of $14.4 million as a resulhefsettlement of the bankruptcy
of WorldCom. See Note 13 to our Consolidated Firar&tatements for further discussion on this eetént.

In the three months ended September 30, 2004, aeeded a $16.3 gain on extinguishment of debtedlad the settlement of the co-
venture obligation, which relates to the operatiohthe MG-HIW, LLC non-Orlando City Group prope&siwhich were accounted for as a
profit-sharing arrangement until July 2003, at vihiicne, we acquired our partner’s interest in tha-@rlando City Group properties.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Co-Venture Expense; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

In the three months ended September 30, 2004 ogadlisposition of properties was primarily compdis# a $1.6 million gain due to
the partial recognition of a $4.4 million deferrgain related to the disposition of three officelthnigs in July 2003 and of a $0.6 million gain
related to the disposition of 27.5 acres of landhke three months ended September 30, 2003, gadisposition of properties was primarily
comprised of a $4.7 million gain related to thepdistion of 0.4 million square feet of office propes that did not meet certain conditions to
be classified as discontinued operations and df & fillion gain related to the disposition of 2&adres of land.

The decrease in co-venture expense is due to quisition of our partner’s interest in the non-@da City Group properties in July
2003 and the resultant elimination of recordingveature expense as of that date. Co-venture expelages to the operations of the MG-
HIW, LLC non-Orlando City Group properties which meeaccounted for as a profit-sharing arrangemetilt duly 2003.

Minority interest in the continuing operations b&tOperating Partnership, after preferred partigrshit distributions, decreased from
$2.0 million in the three months ended SeptembeRB03 to $1.5 million in the three months endept&maber 30, 2004 due to a
corresponding decrease in the Operating Partnésshigppme from continuing operations.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimetme of $1.2 million and $8.2 million, net of ronity interest, as discontinued
operations for the three months ended Septembe&(Bd, and 2003, respectively. These amounts peddm1.3 million square feet of
property, four apartment units and 122.8 acregwémue-producing land sold during 2004 and 2003&hidnillion square feet of property
and 88 apartment units held for sale at Septembe2@®4. These amounts include gain on the séleesk properties of $0.6 million and $7.4
million, net of minority interest, in the three ntba ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively
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Preferred Stock Dividends
We recorded $7.7 million in preferred stock dividerin each of the three months ended Septemb&08@,and 2003.

Net Income

We recorded net income in the three months endpte®der 30, 2004 of $13.8 million, which was a 43 decrease from net income
$24.4 million in the three months ended SeptembeRB03. The decrease was primarily due to disjposdf certain properties in 2004 and
2003 and increases in general and administratists @nd loss on early extinguishment of debt asrilesl above. These amounts were offset
by lower rental property expenses, depreciationaandrtization expense, interest expense and casgerkpense and an increase in gains on
disposition of property as described above. Inrémeainder of 2004, we expect net income to be l@sarompared with 2003 due to slightly
rising average occupancy, pressure on GAAP reatasy higher depreciation and amortization, higineperty operating costs, and higher
general and administrative costs (including pratesas fees and other costs related to considerati@nstrategic transaction and professional
fees and other costs related to the restatemahedompanys financial statements) which amounts should beeoty lower interest exper
and settlement of the Company’s bankruptcy claiaireg WorldCom as more fully described in Note d4hte Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004

The following table sets forth information regagliour results of operations for the nine monthsdr@eptember 30, 2004 and 200z
millions):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

% of

2004 2003 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $ 351.1 $ 372.¢ $ (21.¢) (5.9%
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen 127.¢ 129.1 2.7 1.3
Depreciation and amortizatic 103.] 105.¢ (2.9 (2.2
Impairment of assets held for L 0.t — 0.t 100.(
General and administrati\ 28.¢ 18.4 10.2 55.4
Total operating expens 259.¢ 252.¢ 6.7 2.€
Interest expense
Contractua 80.2 90.4 (10.2) (11.9)
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2.6 3.5 (0.6) (17.7)
Financing obligation 7.5 13.t (6.0) (44.9
90.€ 107. (16.€) (15.€)
Other income/(expense)
Interest and other incon 5.C 455 0.t 11.1
Settlement of bankruptcy clai 14.£ — 14.£ 100.(
Loss on debt extinguishme (12.5) (24.9) 2.2 (15.0
Gain on extinguishment of -venture obligatior — 16.2 (16.9) (100.0
6.S 6.1 0.8 13.1
Income before disposition of property, co-venture xpense, minority
interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidatedféliates 7.8 18.7 (10.¢ (58.9)
Gains on disposition of property, r 17.¢ 8.C 9.8 122t
Cao-venture expens — (4.€) 4.€ (100.0
Minority interest in the Operating Partners (0.9 (0.3 (0.6) 200.(
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 5.4 3.€ 1.8 50.C
Income from continuing operations 30.1 25.4 4.7 18.t
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi 1.2 2.8 .7 (58.€)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomitiy interest 0.€ 8.3 (7.7 (92.9)
1.8 11.2 (9.9 (83.9)
Net income 31.¢ 36.€ 4.7) (12.9)
Dividends on preferred shar (23.7) (23.7) — —
Net income available for common stockholder $ 8.8 $ 13t $ (4.9 (34.9%

Rental and Other Revenues

The decrease in rental and other revenues fronineimg operations was primarily the result of theposition of certain properties in
2003 and 2004 that were not included in discontinygerations, which negatively impacted rental neness by approximately $13.6 million
decrease in average occupancy rates in our Whoelyed Properties from 83.3% for the nine months drigkptember 30, 2003 to 82.1% for
the nine months ended September 30, 2004; a decoéapproximately $2.2 million in recovery incoffinem certain operating expenses in
the nine months ended September 30, 2004; andreadecin straight-line rental income as a resudt $9.8 million reserve established in
2004 related to the bankruptcy of US Airways.

During the nine months ended September 30, 20@s&@ond generation leases representing 5.8 mdtioare feet of office, industrial
and retail space were executed in our Wholly OwPexperties. The average rate per square foot ohAPGasis over the lease term for
these leases was only 0.5 % lower than the redtlpaprevious customers.
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As of the date of this filing, we are beginningsge a modest improvement in employment trenddemaf our markets and an
improving economic climate in the Southeast. Thee been modest positive absorption of office spao@ost of our markets during the last
five quarters. Accordingly, we expect our occuparatg to increase modestly during the remaind@06#.

Operating Expenses

The decrease in rental and other operating expdérsascontinuing operations (real estate taxedifia, insurance, repairs and
maintenance and other property-related expensesaply resulted from the disposition of certairoperties in 2003 and 2004 that were not
included in discontinued operations, which posl{ivepacted rental operating expenses by approxaty&3.3 million, offset by general
inflationary increases, particularly salaries, H#sgeutility costs, real estate taxes and insuesawed the fact that certain fixed operating
expenses do not vary with net changes in our ocmyppercentages, such as real estate taxes, iguaan utility rate changes.

Rental and other operating expenses as a percesftagietal and other revenues increased from 34a8%e nine months ended
September 30, 2003 to 36.3% for the nine months@®@dptember 30, 2004. The increase was a redigicofases in rental and other
operating expenses as described above offsetdrgerlproportional decrease in rental and othexmegs as describe above.

Excluding the effects of property acquisitions @pesitions, we expect rental and other operatkpgeses to increase slightly in the
remainder of 2004 due to inflationary increases@lwith increases in certain fixed operating expsrbat do not vary with occupancy.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization frominuing operations is primarily related to thepdsition of certain properties sold
in 2003 and 2004 which were not included in distargd operations, which positively impacted degten and amortization by
approximately $1.1 million; a decrease in leasiojmissions and tenant improvement amortization;aadédcrease in leasing commissions
and tenant improvement write-offs in the nine merghded September 30, 2004.

The increase in general and administrative expprisgrily relates to $4.6 million recognized in oettion with a retirement package
for our Chief Executive Officer, as described int&l@3 to the Consolidated Financial Statementgladbllowing: (1) increased costs of
personnel and consultants in connection with imgleting the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the restatenfahedCompanys financial statement
(2) higher longterm incentive compensation costs, (3) a decreageneral and administrative expenses in 2003 fettement of a litigatio
matter, (4) higher salary, fringe benefit and ergptorelocation costs, and (5) increased costerktata strategic transaction terminated ir
third quarter of 2004. These increases were pafthet by a decrease in compensation expense ih 20&ted to dividend equivalent rights
attached to option shares granted to certain eixecaofficers in 1997. The Company accounts forap#on shares using variable accounting
as provided by FASB Interpretation No. 44 “Accougtfor Certain Transactions Involving Stock Comzios”.

In the remainder of 2004, general and administeagixpenses are expected to significantly increasgared to 2003 due to inflatione
increases in compensation, benefits and other eggarlated to the implementation of the Sarbangsy@\ct, professional fees and other
costs related to consideration of a strategic &etinen that were incurred largely in the third gaa2004, and professional fees and other «
related to the restatement of the Company'’s firarstatements.

Interest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest expense viragiilly due to a decrease in average interest mtesutstanding debt from 6.62% in
the nine months ended September 30, 2003 to 6.84P&inine months ended September 30, 2004, phintré to a debt refinancing
completed in December 2003 and a decrease in a/bmagwings from $1.8 billion in the nine montheled September 30, 2003 to $1.7
billion in the nine months ended September 30, 200ése decreases were partly offset by slighthelocapitalized interest in 2004
compared to 2003 due to lower average construetighdevelopment costs.

Interest expense on financing obligations decrebge®b.0 million in the nine months ended Septen®®12004 as compared to the
nine months ended September 30, 2003 (See Notéhd toonsolidated Financial Statements for addafianformation on real estate sales
are accounted for as financing transactions).
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The decrease was primarily a result of the purcbéser partner’s interest in the Orlando City Goquroperties in MG-HIW, LLC in March
2004 which eliminated interest on the $62.5 millfovancing obligation.

Total interest expense is expected to declineanrémainder of 2004 primarily due to (1) the DecentD03 refinancing of certain long-
term debt with new borrowings that have lower iegtrates, and (2) the June 2004 refinancing oPthlieOption Notes with borrowings on
Company’s Revolving Loan which currently has loviteating rate interest. Certain of these transastiare discussed in the footnotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. This decline beaglightly offset by any increases in average dalkances resulting from acquisitions or
other activities.

Other Income/Expense

The increase in interest and other income is pilynaglated to the interest received during theenimonths ended September 30, 2004
related to a note receivable acquired in conneatitim the disposition of certain properties in 2088d higher interest rates earned on cash
reserves.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2004, & $diflion loss was recorded related to the retirehw# the Put Option Notes
described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Finandiaie®nents. In addition, in the nine months endqate®eber 30, 2003, a $14.7 million loss
was recorded related to retirement of the MOPPRS diescribed in Note 5 to the Consolidated Findrg&tatements.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Co-Venture Expense; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

In the nine months ended September 30, 2004, gadisposition of properties was primarily comprisgd $15.9 million gain related
to the disposition of approximately 1.3 million sge feet of office properties contributed to th&\HKC Orlando, LLC in June 2004, as
discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Finand&tefents, a $1.6 million gain due to the pargabgnition of a $4.4 million deferred gain
related to the disposition of three office buildéng July 2003 and a $1.7 million gain relatedh® dlisposition of 50.2 acres of land. Offset
this gain was a $1.8 million impairment loss on023cres of land, which is discussed further in Nbte the Consolidated Financial
Statements. In the nine months ended Septemb@083, gain on disposition of properties was prilgaromprised of a $4.7 million gain
related to the disposition of 0.4 million squaretfef office properties that did not meet certainditions to be classified as discontinued
operations, a $2.6 million gain related to the dgpon of 33.5 acres of land and a $1.1 milliomgan the disposition of 4.0 acres of land, as
discussed in Note 6 to the Consolidated Finandatefents.

The decrease in co-venture expense is due to quisition of our partner’s interest in the non-@da City Group properties in July
2003 and the resultant elimination of recordingveature expense as of that date. Co-venture expelages to the operations of the MG-
HIW, LLC non-Orlando City Group properties which n@eaccounted for as a profit-sharing arrangemetilt uly 2003.

Minority interest in the continuing operations b&tOperating Partnership, after preferred parti@rshit distributions, increased from
$0.3 million in the nine months ended Septembe2803 to $0.9 million in the nine months ended Seyiiter 30, 2004 due to a
corresponding increase in the Operating Partneésstiipome from continuing operations.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimetme of $1.8 million and $11.2 million, net ofmority interest, as discontinued
operations for the nine months ended Septembe2®B} and 2003, respectively. These amounts pedaing.3 million square feet of
property, four apartment units and 122.8 acregwémue-producing land sold during 2004 and 20030&hidnillion square feet of property
and 88 apartment units held for sale at Septenthe2(4. These amounts include gain on the saleesk properties, net of impairment
charges related to discontinued operations, of 80ll&n and $8.3 million, net of minority interesh the nine months ended September 30,
2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Preferred Stock Dividends
We recorded $23.1 million in preferred stock divide in each of the nine months ended Septemb&08d, and 2003.

Net Income

We recorded net income in the nine months endeteBdy@r 30, 2004 of $8.8 million, which was a 34.886rease from net income of
$13.5 million in the nine months ended Septembef803. The decrease was primarily due to the diipa of certain properties in 2004
and 2003 and increases in general and administratists and loss on early extinguishment of debeasribed above. These amounts were
offset by lower rental property expenses, depriegisgand amortization expense, interest expenseanenture expense and an increase in
gains on disposition of property as described ablovthe remainder of 2004, we expect net incomigettower as compared with 2003 due to
slightly rising average occupancy, pressure on GA&Ral rates, higher depreciation and amortizatiggher property operating costs, and
higher general and administrative costs (inclugimfessional fees and other costs related to ceraidn of a strategic transaction and
professional fees and other costs related to statement of the Company’s financial statementsgkvamounts should be offset by lower
interest expense and settlement of the Companylkrbptcy claim against WorldCom as more fully désed in Note 14 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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L 1QuibiTY AND C APITAL R ESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dbsirs based on operating activities, investingwvitéés and financing activities.
The following table sets forth the changes in tlen@any’s cash flows from the first nine months 802 to the first nine months of 2004 (in
thousands):

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2004 2003 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activitii $ 129,33t $ 132,89t $ (3,560)
Cash Provided By Investing Activitit 18,94: 60,12¢ (41,187
Cash Used In Financing Activitie (149,36 (191,390 42,02¢
Total Cash Flow: $ (1,089 $ 1,63F $ (2,719

In calculating cash flow from operating activiti€sAAP requires us to add depreciation and amoitimatvhich are non-cash expenses,
back to net income. As a result, we have histdsicggnerated a significant positive amount of cas operating activities. From period to
period, cash flow from operations depends primarggn changes in our net income, as discussed fulreinder “Results of Operations,”
changes in receivables and payables, and net@uklidir decreases in our overall portfolio, whideetfthe amount of depreciation and
amortization expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesegally relates to capitalized costs incurred &arsing and major building
improvements, and our acquisition, developmenfatgion and joint venture activity. During perioafssignificant net acquisition and/or
development activity, our cash used in such inmgsdictivities will generally exceed cash providgdrivesting activities, which typically
would consist of cash received upon the sale gfgmées or distributions from our joint ventures.

Cash used in financing activities generally relatestockholder dividends, incurrence and repayroédebt and sales or repurchases of
common stock and preferred stock. As discussedqursly, we use a significant amount of our casfuta stockholder dividends. Whethel
not we incur significant new debt during a periegpends generally upon the net effect of our adipisidisposition, development and joint
venture activity. We use our Revolving Loan for Wiog capital purposes, which means that duringgingn period, in order to minimize
interest expense associated with balances outstandider the Revolving Loan, we will likely recaiginificant repayments and borrowings
under the Revolving Loan.

The decrease of $3.6 million in cash provided bgrapng activities was primarily a result of lowest income due to the disposition of
certain properties under our capital recycling pang a decrease in average occupancy rates faWbally Owned portfolio and an increase
in general and administrative expenses, offseeltyesnent of the Company’s bankruptcy claim agaiistldCom. In addition, the level of
net cash provided by operating activities is affddby the timing of receipt of revenues and payroémeixpenses.

The decrease of $41.2 million in cash providedriwesting activities was primarily a result of a se in proceeds for dispositions of
real estate assets of approximately $36.3 milom contributions of $3.9 million made to uncondaled affiliates during the nine months
ended September 30, 2004 while no contributiongweade during the nine months ended Septembe08G, 2

The decrease of $42.0 million in cash used in firanactivities was primarily a result of an incseaf $11.9 million in net borrowings
on the unsecured Revolving Loan and mortgages ates payable, financing obligations and coventitgations decrease of $10.1 million
in distributions paid on common stock and unitdearease of $18.6 million in common stock and comumat repurchases and no eenture
obligation payments during 2004.

In 2004, we expect to continue our capital recygfimogram of selectively disposing of non-core grbies or other properties in order
to use the net proceeds for investments or othgroses. At September 30, 2004, we had 0.6 millgprase feet of properties, 88 apartment
units and 126.1 acres of land classified as helddte pursuant to SFAS No. 144 with a carryingiealf $69.0 million. These transactions
subject to customary closing
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conditions, including due diligence and documentatand are expected to close during the remawid2004. However, we can provide no
assurance that all these transactions will be congated. As of October 22, 2004, we have closedoresof these transactions consisting of
0.2 million square feet of properties and 20.0 safdand.

During the remainder of 2004, we expect to havetipescash flows from operating activities. The nash flows from investing
activities in the remainder of 2004 could be pwgsitr negative, depending on the level and timingroperty dispositions, property
acquisitions, development and capitalized leasimyimprovement costs. Any positive cash flows froperating and investing activities in
the remainder of 2004 are expected to be usedytstpakholder and unitholder distributions, reqdickebt amortization, and recurring capital
expenditures.

Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalizatichaf September 30, 2004 and December 31, 200B8dustinds, except per share
amounts):

September 3C December 31
2004 2003

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book $1,600,62 $1,717,76!
Financing obligation $ 62,99 $ 124,06
Preferred stock, at redemption va $ 377,44 $ 377,44
Common Stock and Units outstandi 59,84: 59,671
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 24.61] $ 254
Market value of common equi 1,472,68 1,515,79
Total market capitalization with de $3,513,75. $3,735,06!

Based on our total market capitalization of appreately $3.5 billion at September 30, 2004 (at tapt&mber 30, 2004 per share stock
price of $24.61 and assuming the redemption foreshaf Common Stock of the 6.1 million Common Umitshe Operating Partnership not
owned by the Company), our mortgages and notespmyapresented approximately 45.6% of our totaketacapitalization.

Mortgages and notes payable at September 30, 2884emprised of $819.1 million of secured indebésdrwith a weighted average
interest rate of 6.9% and $781.5 million of unsedundebtedness with a weighted average intertesbf&.4%. As of September 30, 2004,
our outstanding mortgages and notes payable weteeskby real estate assets with an aggregateimmangiue of approximately $1.4 billion.

We do not intend to reserve funds to retire exgsiacured or unsecured debt upon maturity. Forre wammplete discussion of our long-
term liquidity needs, see “Liquidity and Capitald®erces - Current and Future Cash Needs.”
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The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations at Septembe2804 (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Through
Remainder
Total of 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt: (1)
Unsecured
Notes $ 460,000 $ — $ — $110,000 $ — $100,00( $250,00(
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payah(2) 768,32: 3,34¢€ 81,441 17,21  81,62¢ 14,34 570,34¢
Total Fixed Rate Det 1,228,32: 3,34¢€ 81,447 127,210 81,62t 114,34! 820,34¢
Variable Rate Debt:
Unsecured:
Term Loan 120,00( — 120,00( — — — —
Revolving Loar 201,50( — — 201,50( — — —
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payab(2) 50,80: 73 28¢ 47,27: 3,16¢ — —
Total Variable Rate Det 372,30: 73 120,28¢ 248,77: 3,16¢ — —
Total Lon¢-Term Debit 1,600,62' 3,41¢ 201,73t 375,98t 84,79: 114,34! 820,34¢
Operating Lease Obligations:
Land Lease 47,44t 31¢ 1,272 1,21 1,191 1,19t 42,25¢
Purchase Obligations:
Completion Contract(3) 26,97t 11,80¢ 15,17( — — — —
Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on the Balance
Sheet:
Plaza Colonade Debt Repayment Guara(3) 2,46¢ — — 2,46¢ — — —
Plaza Colonnade Completion Guarar(3) 37€ — — 37€ — — —
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP Lease
Guarante«(3) 85E — — — — 85E —
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC Lease Guarant(3) 3,24( 21 83 92 97 97 2,85(
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partners Lt
Guarante«(3) 1,29C — — — — — 1,29(
Capital One Lease Guarani(4) 1,40z — — 334 36¢ 37¢ 321
Industrial Portfolio Lease Guarant(4) 1,827 33C 991 50€ — — —
Eastshore Financing Obligati(5) 28,63« — — 28,63¢ — — —
SF-HIW Harborview Financing Obligatio(5) 13,72¢ — — — — — 13,72¢
Tax Increment Financing Obligati(6) 20,63 687 775 863 913 97€ 16,41¢
DLF Note Payabl(7) 3,14: 49 21€ 25C 28¢€ 32t 2,01¢€
Total $1,752,63' $ 16,62¢ $220,24: $410,72: $87,65( $118,16¢ $899,22¢

(1) The Operating Partnership’s unsecured not&60.0 million bear interest at rates ranging fid@P6 to 8.125% with interest payable
semi-annually in arrears. Any premium and discoatsted to the issuance of the unsecured notefiergeith other issuance costs is
being amortized over the life of the respectiveesats an adjustment to interest expense. All ofitisecured notes are redeemable at
any time prior to maturity at our option, subjeztertain conditions including the payment of makesle amounts. Our fixed rate
mortgage loans generally are either locked outépgyment for all or a portion of their term, oe @re-payable subject to certain
conditions including prepayment penalti

(2) The mortgage loans payable were secured byestale assets with an aggregate carrying valapgbximately $1.4 billion at
September 30, 200

(3) See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther discussior

(4) These liabilities represent gains that weredetfl in accordance with SFAS No. 66 when we dudé properties to a third party. We
defer gains on sales of real estate up to our maximxposure to contingent loss. See Note 11 t€tresolidated Financial Statemer

(5) These liabilities represent our financing oétign to either our partner in the respective joimture or the third party buyer as a result
of accounting for these transactions as financimangements. See Note 3 to the Consolidated FiabBtatements
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(6) In connection with Tax Increment Financing éonstruction of a public garage related to an efficilding constructed by us, we are
obligated to pay fixed special assessments overyear period. The net present value of these sisers, discounted at 6.93%, is
shown as a Financing Obligation in the balancetshée also receive special tax revenues and prppeextrebates which are intended,
but not guaranteed, to provide funds to pay theiapassessment

(7) Represents a fixed obligation which we owe mantner in Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP. This amountsarérom an excess contribution
from our partner at the formation of the joint vanet

Operating and Financial Covenants and Performance Btios

The terms of the Revolving Loan, the $120.0 millmank term loans and the indentures that govermotstanding notes require us to
comply with certain operating and financial covetsaand performance ratios. We are currently in d@npe with all such requirements.
Although we expect to remain in compliance with te@enants and ratios under our Revolving Loankamk term loans for the foreseeable
future, depending upon our future operating perforoe and property and financing transactions, waaaassure you that we will continue
to be in compliance.

If we fail to comply with these financial ratioscinther covenants, we would likely not be abledardw any further amounts under the
Revolving Loan, which could adversely affect ouiligbto fund our operations, and our lenders coatdelerate any debt outstanding under
our Revolving Loan, bank tern loans or our indeatlirour debt cannot be paid, refinanced or ex@édrat maturity, in addition to our failure
to repay our debt, we may not be able to makeiligions to stockholders at expected levels otlaFarthermore, if any refinancing is done
at higher interest rates, the increased intergstrese could adversely affect our cash flows anlityati make distributions to stockholders.
Any such refinancing could also impose tighter ficial ratios and other covenants that could restrc ability to take actions that could
otherwise be in our stockholders’ best interesthsas funding new development activity, making opjpustic acquisitions, repurchasing our
securities or paying distributions.

The following table sets forth more detailed infation about our ratio and covenant compliance utfteRevolving Loan and the ba
term loans, which have identical covenants, assgithia new Revolving Loan had been in effect at &aper 30, 2004. If we fail to satisfy
any of the covenants detailed in the table belowiiding the covenants regarding non-GAAP finangiehsures such as EBITDA, Cash
Available for Distributions (“CAD”) and adjusted NYafter the expiration of certain cure period® tanders under our Revolving Loan, our
bank term loans and/or the construction loan ing&arCity for Colonnade could accelerate amounstanding there under, which aggreg
$350.9 million at September 30, 2004. Certain efthdefinitions may differ from similar terms usedhe accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements and may, for example, consideproportionate share of investments in uncodatgd affiliates. For a more detailed
discussion of the covenants in our Revolving Laacluding definitions of certain relevant termse ke credit agreement governing our
Revolving Loan which is attached as Exhibit 10.14.

September 30, 20C

Total Liabilities Less Than or Equal to 57.5% oftdloAsset: 53.€%

Unencumbered Assets Greater Than or Equal to Ztismsecured Del 2.1%
Secured Debt Less Than or Equal to 35% of Totabts 28.1%
Adjusted EBITDA Greater Than 2.10 times Interespé&nse 2.2¢
Adjusted EBITDA Greater Than 1.50 times Fixed Clea 1.64
Adjusted NOI Unencumbered assets Greater Thant@n2s Interest on Unsecured D 2.7¢
Tangible Net Worth Greater Than $1.45 Billi $ 1.57 billior
Restricted Payments, including distributions torshalders, Less Than or Equal to 95% of C 74.4%

In June 2004, the Company amended its Revolving lawal two bank term loans. The changes excludefiiié million charge taken
related to the refinancing of the Put Option Ndtem the calculations used to compute financiales@ants.

In August 2004, the Company further amended itsolRévg Loan and two bank term loans. The changetueed the effects of
accounting for three sales transactions as fingnmirprofit sharing arrangements under SFAS Ndr@® the calculations used to compute
financial covenants, adjusted one financial coveaad temporarily adjusted a second financial caménntil the earlier of December 31,
2004 or the period when the Company can recordhiecivom the anticipated settlement of a claim agfaidorldCom - see Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In early October 2004, the Company obtained a wdioen the lenders of the Company’s Revolving Laad two bank term loans for
certain covenant violations caused by the effetthmloss on debt extinguishment from the MOPPRS8staction in early 2003.

The aforementioned modifications did not changesttenomic terms of the loans. In connection wigtsthmodifications, the Company
incurred certain loan costs that are capitalizetlamortized over the remaining term of the loans.

The Revolving Loan carries an interest rate bagexh its senior unsecured credit ratings. As a teisitérest currently accrues on
borrowings under the Revolving Loan at LIBOR pl@% basis points. The terms of the Revolving Loajuiie the Company to pay an ann
base facility fee equal to .25% of the aggregatewarnhof the Revolving Loan. The Company currentlg l credit rating of BBBassigned b'
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Inc. In August 2003,0dy's Investor Service downgraded its assigneditcrating from Baa3 to Bal. If
Standard and Poor’s or Fitch Inc. were to lowerGoenpany'’s credit ratings without a correspondimyéase by Moodg, the interest rate ¢
borrowings under the Company’s Revolving Loan wduddautomatically increased by 60 basis points.

Refinancings in 2004

In 1997, a trust formed by the Operating Partnersbid $100.0 million of Exercisable Put Option &#ees due June 15, 2004 (“X-
POS"). The assets of the trust consisted of, anadimgr things, $100.0 million of Exercisable Put iOptNotes due June 15, 2011 (the “Put
Option Notes”), issued by the Operating Partnershiig Put Option Notes bore an interest rate d3%.1from the date of issuance through
June 15, 2004. In connection with the initial issteof the Put Option Notes, a counter party waatgd an option to purchase the Put Oy
Notes from the trust on June 15, 2004 at 100.0%eprincipal amount. The counter party exercisesldption and acquired the Put Opt
Notes on June 15, 2004. On that same date, the &omgxercised its option to acquire the Put Opiotes from the counter party fol
purchase price equal to the sum of the presenéwalthe remaining scheduled payments of prinapal interest (assuming an interest rate of
6.39%) on the Put Option Notes, or $112.5 millibhe difference between the $112.5 million and th@d0 million was charged to loss on
extinguishment of debt in the quarter ended Jun@@®4. The Company borrowed funds from its Revigioan to make the $112.5 million
payment.

In late June 2004, we repaid $51.0 million of theréased borrowing under our Revolving Loan witbcpeds from the sale of a 60.0%
interest in five office buildings in Orlando, Fldd and from the sale of a building at HighwoodssPree in Tampa, Florida. See Notes 2 a
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for furtiegails of these asset sales.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Historically, rental revenue has been the princgmalrce of funds to meet our short-term liquidéguirements, which primarily consist
of operating expenses, debt service, stockholdédetids, any guarantee obligations and recurripgtadeexpenditures. In addition, we could
incur tenant improvements and lease commissioasegtto any releasing of space at the Highwoodselfre campus vacated by WorldCom.

In addition to the requirements discussed aboveshart-term (through the end of 2004) liquiditguerements also include the funding
of approximately $9.4 million of our existing despment activity (as of the date of this filing) aiirdt generation tenant improvements and
lease commissions on properties placed in-serlgieare not fully leased. We expect to fund ourtsteom liquidity requirements through a
combination of working capital, cash flows from ogttons and some or all of the following:

» borrowings under our unsecured Revolving Loan (tviias up to $77.8 million of availability as of Nmaber 18, 2004
» the selective disposition of n-core assets or other assi
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» the sale or contribution of some of our Wholly @& Properties, development projects and developlaed to strategic joint
ventures to be formed with unrelated investorscihwill have the net effect of generating additiorepital through such sale or
contributions;

» the issuance of secured debt (at November 18,200 had approximately $2.2 billion of unencumbersal estate assets at cost) ;
and

» the issuance of new unsecured d

Our long-term liquidity needs generally include thading of existing and future development acyivételective asset acquisitions and
the retirement of mortgage debt, amounts outstgnaimder the Revolving Loan and long-term unsecdsdat. Our goal is to maintain a
flexible capital structure. Accordingly, we expéztimeet our long-term liquidity needs through a baration of (1) the issuance by the
Operating Partnership of additional unsecured deburities, (2) the issuance of additional equétyusities by the Company and the
Operating Partnership as well as (3) the sourcssritied above with respect to our shiertm liquidity. We expect to use such sources tet
our long-term liquidity requirements either throutjhect payments or repayment of borrowings underunsecured Revolving Loan. As
mentioned above, we do not intend to reserve ftmdstire existing secured or unsecured indebtesdnpsn maturity. Instead, we will seek
refinance such debt at maturity or retire such thetotugh the issuance of equity or debt securities.

We anticipate that our available cash and cashvatgiits and cash flows from operating activitieghwash available from borrowings
and other sources, will be adequate to meet outatamd liquidity needs in both the short and ldagn. However, if these sources of funds
are insufficient or unavailable, our ability to pdiyidends to stockholders and satisfy other cagments may be adversely affected.

Stockholder Dividends

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we mustdbute to stockholders at least 90.0% of our Rtakiable income. REIT taxable
income, the calculation of which is determined g tederal tax laws, does not necessarily equahneie under GAAP. We generally
expect to use our cash flow from operating actsifior dividends to stockholders and for paymemeofirring capital expenditures. Future
dividends will be made at the discretion of our Bbaf Directors. The following factors will affeour cash flows and, accordingly, influence
the decisions of our Board of Directors regardingdgnds:

» debt service requirements after taking into accoebt covenants and the repayment and restructafiogrtain indebtednes
» scheduled increases in base rents of existingde

» changes in rents attributable to the renewal dfteng leases or replacement lea:

» changes in occupancy rates at existing propertidse&ecution of leases for newly acquired or dgwetioproperties; an

» operating expenses and capital replacement newdisding tenant improvements and leasing ct

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has several off balance sheet joirtuvermnd guarantee arrangements. The joint ventuees formed with unrelated
investors to generate additional capital to funapprty acquisitions, repay outstanding debt or fatir strategic initiatives and to lessen the
ownership risks typically associated with ownin@ 1% of a property. When we create a joint ventith a strategic partner, we usually
contribute one or more properties that we own tewly formed entity in which we retain an intere660.0% or less. In exchange for an
equal or minority interest in the joint venture, generally receive cash from the partner and rete@rmanagement income relating to the
properties in the joint venture. For financial repa purposes, the sales of assets we sold t@boer joint ventures is accounted for as a
financing arrangement.
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At September 30, 2004, our unconsolidated jointwess had $834.8 million of total assets and $584lRon of total liabilities. Our
weighted average equity interest based on theastadts of these unconsolidated joint venturesA@a&%6. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2004, these unconsolidated joinuvesiearned $12.1 million of total net income ofchirour share was $5.4 million. For
additional discussion of our unconsolidated joiahtures, see Note 2 in the Consolidated Finantée®ents.

As required by GAAP, we use the equity method ebaating for our unconsolidated joint ventures imiein we exercise significant
influence but do not control the major operating &énancial policies of the entity regarding encuaribg the entities with debt and the
acquisition and disposal of properties. As a resit assets and liabilities of these joint verdue not included on our balance sheet and the
results of operations of these joint ventures aténtluded on our income statement, other thaggagty in earnings of unconsolidated
affiliates. Generally, we are not liable for théotieof our joint ventures, except to the extendwf equity investment, unless we have directly
guaranteed any of that debt. In most cases, weaadr strategic partners are required to guaracustmary limited exceptions to non-
recourse liability in non-recourse loans.

As of September 30, 2004, our unconsolidated ja@ntures had $560.2 million of outstanding debe Tdilowing table sets forth the
principal payments due on that outstanding longitéebt as recorded on the respective joint verguredks at September 30, 2004 (in
thousands):

Percen
Owned Remainder
Total of 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

Board of Trade Investment Compa 49.0% $ 612 $ 47 $ 19¢ $ 21t ¢ 152 $§ — $ —
Dallas County Partne(1) 50.0(% 40,97¢ 265 1,10¢ 4,487 13,40¢ 5,84z 15,87:
Dallas County Partners (1) 50.0(% 21,54t 32z 1,37¢ 1,522 1,68< 1,86¢ 14,77¢
Fountain Thre«(1) 50.0(% 29,10: 28: 1,172 1,242 1,31¢ 6,40( 18,68’
RRHWoods, LLC(1) 50.0(% 69,82¢ 114 46€& 50C 4,315 45¢ 63,97«
4600 Madison Associates, | 12.5(% 16,19: 182 762 81t 87:2 93t 12,62t
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81% 66,47 26€ 1,107 1,18¢ 1,26¢ 1,35¢ 61,29(
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L 42.9% 58,49 184 77C 831 897 96¢ 54 ,84¢
Highwood«-Markel Associates, LL( 50.0(% 39,59% 15E 643 682 722 76€ 36,62¢
Concourse Center Associates, L 50.00(% 9,564 45 18¢ 20z 217 232 8,67¢
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 48,06 — — — 48,06 — —
Highwoods KC Glenridge, LL( 40.0(% 16,75( — — 25C — 13¢€ 16,36¢
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC 40.0% 143,00 — — — 1,02( 2,540 139,44(
Total $560,19¢2) $ 1,86: $7,79C $11,93: $73,93: $21,49¢ $443,18:

(1) Des Moines joint venture

(2) All of this joint venture debt is non-recouttseus except (1) in the case of customary except@ntaining to such matters as misuse of
funds, environmental conditions and material misgepntations and (2) those guarantees and loaosh#skin the following
paragraphs

In connection with the Des Moines joint ventures, guaranteed certain debt, and the maximum potemiaunt of future payments we
could be required to make under the guarantee&if93%nillion. Of this amount, $8.6 million aroserfin housing revenue bonds that require
credit enhancements in addition to the real estatégages. The bonds bear a floating interest vaigh at September 30, 2004 averaged
1.2% and mature in 2015. Guarantees of $9.4 millidhexpire upon two industrial buildings becomifg.8% and 95.0% leased or when the
related loans mature. As of September 30, 2004¢thaildings were 87.5% and 75.0% leased, resgdgetiVhe remaining $6.9 million in
guarantees relate to loans on four office builditingg were in the lease-up phase at the time tgslavere initiated. Each of the loans will
expire by May 2008. The average occupancy of the boildings at September 30, 2004 is 92.0%. Ifithr ventures are unable to repay the
outstanding balance under the loans, we will beired, under the terms of the agreements, to répaputstanding balance. Recourse
provisions exist to enable us to recover somelafalur losses from the joint ventures’ assetsanthe other partner. The joint ventures
currently generate sufficient cash flow to cover tiebt service required by the loans.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventunas renewed our guarantee of $6.2 million to a hanluly 2003; this guarantee
expires in September 2015 and may be renewed bByhesbank provides a letter of credit securing sidal revenue bonds, which mature in
2015. We would be required to perform under theaapuiae should the joint venture be unable to reépayonds. We have recourse provis
in order to recover from the joint venture’s assetd the other partner for amounts paid in excéesioproportionate share. The property
collateralizing the bonds is 100.0% leased andectlyr generates sufficient cash flow to cover thbtdservice required by the bond financi
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With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint uesitwe have included $2.8 million in other liatiés and adjusted the investment in
unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8 million on ourrBolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2004 defatwo separate guarantees of a
construction loan agreement and a construction tetiop agreement. The construction loan maturdzimruary 2006, with two one-year
options to extend the maturity date that are camthd on completion and lease-up of the projece Trm of the construction completion
agreement requires the core and shell of the Imgjlth be completed by December 15, 2005. Currethtéybuilding is scheduled to be
completed in December 2004. Both guarantees arosethe formation of the joint venture to constrantoffice building. If the joint venture
is unable to repay the outstanding balance undecdhstruction loan agreement or complete the nget&in of the office building, we would
be required, under the terms of the agreementsptay our 50.0% share of the outstanding balanderuhe construction loan and complete
the construction of the office building. On Mard, 2004, the Industrial Development Authority of ity of Kansas City, Missouri issued
$18.5 million in non-recourse bonds to finance puishprovements made by the joint venture for teaeddit of the Kansas City Missouri
Public Library. Since the joint venture leasesltmal for the office building from the library foB9ears, the joint venture is obligated to build
certain public improvements. The net bond proceé@i6.3 million will be used to reimburse the jouenture for its costs. As funds are
transferred from the bond fund to the construckamuer, our exposure is reduced. The maximum piatearhount of future payments by us
under these agreements is $27.6 million if the tanson loan is fully funded. No recourse provisscexist that would enable us to recover
from the other partner amounts paid under the gii@ea However, given that the loan is collaterailg the building, we and our partner
could obtain and liquidate the building to recother amounts paid should we be required to perfardeuthe guarantee.

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC construttaman and completion agreement described abogegattners have collectively
provided $12.0 million in letters of credit, $6.0llion by us and $6.0 million by our partner. Wedaour partner would be held liable under
the letter of credit agreements should the joimtuee not complete construction of the buildingeTétters of credit expire in December 31,
2004. No recourse provisions exist that would emaisito recover from the other partner amounts niavder the letter of credit. The
building is nearing completion and the first tenargxpected to take occupancy in the fourth quaft@004.

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint verd, a single tenant currently leases an entirelingiunder a lease scheduled to
expire June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases @patiger buildings owned by us. In conjunction watih overall restructuring of the tenant’s
leases with us and with this joint venture, we adr® certain changes to the lease with the jantwre in September 2003. The modificat
include allowing the tenant to terminate the lemsdanuary 1, 2006, reducing the rent obligatiod®®% and converting the “net” lease to a
“full service” lease with the tenant liable for 50.0% of thesdscbeginning January 1, 2006. In turn, we agreembtopensate the joint vent
for any economic losses incurred as a result afetease modifications. Based on the lease guaragreement, we recorded approximately
$0.9 million in other liabilities and recorded deteed charge of $0.9 million in September 2003wideer, should new tenants occupy the
vacated space during the two and a half year gtesgreriod, our liability under the guarantee watifdinish. Our maximum potential
amount of future payments with regards to this gntge as of September 30, 2004 is $1.1 millionréd¢ourse provisions exist to enable us to
recover the amounts paid to the joint venture utlisrlease guarantee arrangement.

On February 20, 2004, we and Kapital-Consult, aopean investment firm, formed Highwoods KC GlenegdgLC, which on February
26, 2004, acquired from a thighrty Glenridge Point Office Park, consisting obteffice buildings aggregating 185,000 square lieedted ir
the Central Perimeter sub-market of Atlanta. ASeptember 30, 2004, the buildings were 91.0% led¥edcontributed $10.0 million to the
joint venture in return for a 40.0% equity interagtl Kapite-Consult contributed $14.9 million for a 60.0% dgunterest in the partnership.
The joint venture entered into a $16.5 million Jxysecured loan on the assets. We are the maaradjérasing agent for this property and
receive customary management fees and leasing @sioms$. The acquisition also includes 2.9 acretewélopment land that can
accommodate 150,000 square feet of office space.

On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a European invesst firm, bought an interest in HIW-KC Orlandd,, an entity formed by us.
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC owns five in-service office gerties, encompassing 1.3 million rentable squeeg focated in the central business
district of Orlando, Florida, which were valued enthe joint venture agreement at $212.0 millio|uding amounts related to our
guarantees described below, and which were

46



Table of Contents

subject to a $136.2 million secured mortgage |#&pital-Consult contributed $42.1 million in casidareceived a 60.0% equity interest in
return. The joint venture borrowed $143.0 milliamder a ten-year fixed rate mortgage loan from @ tparty lender and repaid the $136.2
million loan. We retained a 40.0% equity inter@sthe joint venture and received net cash procetdpproximately $46.6 million, of which
$33.0 million was used to pay down our $250.0 wrillrevolving loan (the “Revolving Loan”) and $13dillion was used to pay down
another of our loans. In connection with this tei®n, we agreed to guarantee rent to the jointure for 3,248 rentable square feet
commencing in August 2004 and expiring in April 20Additionally, we agreed to guarantee re-tenantiosts for approximately 11.0% of
the joint venture’s total square footage. We reedrd $4.1 million contingent liability with respegotsuch guarantee at the date of formation
and reduced the total amount of the gain recogrigettie same amount. At September 30, 2004, $2l@miemains in other liabilities in
connection with this guarantee. We believe ounest related to the re-tenanting costs guarantaecisrate. However, if our assumptions
prove to be incorrect, future losses may occur. ddrgribution was accounted for as a partial saldedined by SFAS No. 66, and we
recognized a $15.9 million gain in June 2004. Simeehave an ongoing 40.0% financial interest injtire venture and since we are engaged
by the joint venture to provide management andrigaservices for the joint venture, for which weee customary management fees and
leasing commissions, the operations of these ptiegewill not be reflected as discontinued operaioonsistent with SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets” and the related gain on sale wasided in continuing operations in June
2004.

RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners each d@esl a new office building in Des Moines, lowa. fime 25, 2004, the joint
ventures financed both buildings with a $7.4 millioan from a bank. As an inducement to make the &t 6.3% long-term rate, we and our
partner agreed to master lease the vacant spaggarahteed $1.6 million or $0.8 million each withited recourse. As leasing improves,
the obligations under the loan agreement dimimshof September 30, 2004, we recorded $1.3 miilioother liabilities and $1.3 million as
deferred charge on our Consolidated Balance Shi#etespect to this guarantee. The maximum poteatunt of future payments that we
could be required to make based on the curren¢deiasplace is approximately $4.7 million. The likeod of us paying on our $0.8 million
guarantee is remote since the master lease payprewnide the required 1.3 debt coverage ratio dudilsl we have to pay, we would recover
the $0.8 million from other joint venture assets.

Financing Arrangements

The following summarizes sales transactions ttegacounted for as financing arrangements undegpashs 25 through 29 under
SFAS No. 66 at September 30, 2004.

- SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, we contributed Harborvieaz&lan office building located in Tampa, FlorigdaSF-HIW Harborview Plaza,
LP (“Harborview LP"), a newly formed entity, in xange for a 20.0% limited partnership interest 8.4 million in cash. We also entered
into a master lease agreement with Harborview,drRi¥e years on the vacant space in the buildagpfoximately 20.0%) and guaranteed
payment of tenant improvements and lease commssib§il.2 million. Our maximum exposure to lossemithe master lease agreement was
$2.1 million at September 11, 2002 and was $1.lianiat September 30, 2004. Additionally, our partm Harborview LP was granted the
right to put its 80.0% equity interest in Harbowi&P to us in exchange for cash at any time dutfiegone-year period commencing on
September 11, 2014. The value of the 80.0% equigyest will be determined at the time, if eveattbuch partner elects to exercise its put
right, based upon the then fair market value ofddariew LP’s assets and liabilities, less 3.0%,clhias intended to cover normal costs of a
sale transaction.

Because of the put option and master lease agréethisntransaction is accounted for as a finantiagsaction. Consequently, the
assets, liabilities and operations related to Hatibar Plaza, the property owned by Harborview Life]uding any new financing by the
partnership, remain on our books. As a result, axetestablished a financing obligation equal tongieequity contributed by the other
partner. At the end of each reporting period, thlafice of the financing obligation is adjusteddaa the current fair value, which is $13.7
million at September 30, 2004, but not less thanatfiginal financing obligation. This adjustmengaimortized prospectively through
September 2014. Additionally, the net income friwm dperations before depreciation of Harborviewe®klocable to the 80.0% partner is
recorded as interest expense on financing obligatid/e continue to depreciate the property andrdeaib of the depreciation on our books.
Additionally,
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any payments made under the master lease agreareestpensed as incurred ($0.07 million and $0lBomiwas expensed during the nine
months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, resplggtand any amounts paid under the tenant imprevemnd lease commission
guarantee are capitalized and amortized to experesethe remaining lease term. At such time aptheption expires or otherwise is
terminated, we will record the transaction as a aald recognize gain on sale.

- Eastshore Transaction

On November 26, 2002, we sold three buildings kettan Richmond, Virginia for a total purchase prade$28.5 million in cash, which
was paid in full by the buyer at closing (the “Esire” transaction). Each of the sold propertiessigle tenant building leased on a triple-
net basis to Capital One Services, Inc., a subrgidiaCapital One Financial Services, Inc.

In connection with the sale, we entered into aalegiiarantee agreement for each building for teefiieof the buyer to guarantee any
rent shortfalls which may be incurred in the paytadirent and re-tenanting costs for a five-yeaiquefrom the date of sale (through
November 2007). Our maximum exposure to loss utfgerental guarantee agreements was $18.7 miltitmeadate of sale and $13.4 milli
as of September 30, 2004. In June 2004, we begaiake monthly payments to the buyer, at an anmtelaf $0.1 million, as a result of the
existing tenant renewing a lease in one building latver rental rate.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghweweent as prescribed by SFAS No. 66. Becauseuhegtees cover the entire sp
occupied by a single tenant under a triple-netdeasangement, our guarantees are considered ange@d return on the buyer’s investment
for an extended period of time. Therefore, thedaation has been accounted for as a financingdctios. Accordingly, the assets and
operations are included in these Consolidated EiahBtatements, and a financing obligation of $28illion was recorded which represents
the amount received from the buyer. The income fileenoperations of the properties, other than degtien, is allocated 100.0% to the
owner as interest on financing obligation. Paymemasle under the rent guarantees are charged tasxps incurred. This transaction will
recorded as a completed sale transaction in theefuthen the maximum exposure to loss under theagtees is equal to or less than the
related gain.

-MG-HIW, LLC

As previously disclosed, on March 2, 2004, we eigsetour option and acquired our partner’'s 80.08rést in the Orlando City Group
of MG-HIW, LLC. At the closing of the transactiowge paid our partner, Miller Global, $62.5 milliondaa $7.5 million letter of credit
delivered to the seller in connection with the optivas cancelled. The initial contribution of thessets was accounted for as a financing
arrangement and continued to be so treated thrblagbh 1, 2004. The financing obligation was elini@thon March 2, 2004. Since the
financing obligation was adjusted each period fa0®% leveraged internal rate of return guaramtegyain or loss was recognized upon the
extinguishment of the financing obligation.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowingsler ou
Revolving Loan bears interest at variable rates.léng-term debt, which consists of long-term fingmgs and the unsecured issuance of debt
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratesaddition, we have assumed fixed rate and kbieate debt in connection with acquiring
properties. Our interest rate risk management débgts to limit the impact of interest rate chasga earnings and cash flows and to lower
our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these dbjes, from time to time we enter into intereserhedge contracts such as collars, swaps,
caps and treasury lock agreements in order to atéigur interest rate risk with respect to varidelst instruments.
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The following table sets forth information regamgliour interest rate hedge contracts as of Septe&the&004 (in thousands):

Fair Market
Notional Maturity Fixed
Type of Hedge Amount Date Reference Rate Rate Value
Interest Rate Swa $20,00C 6/1/200¢ 1 month USI-LIBOR-BBA 159(% $ 87
$ 87

The interest rate on all of our variable rate delstdjusted at one and three month intervals, stibjesettlements under these contracts.
We also enter into treasury lock agreements frome tio time in order to limit our exposure to arr@ase in interest rates with respect to
future debt offerings. During the third quarter2804, only a nominal amount was received from ceupérties under interest rate hedge
contracts.

Related Party Transactions

We have previously reported that we have had a&cinto acquire development land in the Bluegraakey office development project
from GAPI, Inc., a corporation controlled by an extve officer and director of the Company. On Jayul7, 2003, we acquired an additic
23.5 acres of this land from GAPI, Inc. for cash ahares of Common Stock valued at $2.3 milliorMay 2003, 4.0 acres of the remaining
acres not yet acquired by us was taken by the Gebrepartment of Transportation to develop a rogdineerchange for consideration of
$1.8 million. The Department of Transportation tgassession and title of the property in June 26@8Jart of the terms of the contract
between us and GAPI, Inc., we were entitled toptteeeeds from the condemnation of $1.8 millions k& contracted purchase price betv
us and GAPI, Inc. for the condemned property of $fillion. On September 30, 2003, as a result efabndemnation, we received the
proceeds of $1.8 million. A related party payadié@ 7 million to GAPI, Inc. related to the condeation of the development land is incluc
in accounts payable, accrued expenses and othéitiks in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at Saptr 30, 2004.

C RITICAL A CCOUNTING E STIMATES

There were no changes to the critical accountidigips and estimates made by management in themnamghs ended September 30,
2004. For a detailed description of our criticat@enting estimates, see “Management’s Discussidnfaralysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Estiggdtin our 2003 amended Annual Report on Form 10-K.

F unDsF Rom O PERATIONS

We believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) arktOFper share are beneficial to management andtorgess important indicators of
the performance of any equity REIT. Because FFOFdd per share calculations exclude such factodepseciation and amortization or
real estate assets and gains or losses from dadpem@ting real estate assets (which can vary grmemers of identical assets in similar
condition based on historical cost accounting aseful life estimates), they facilitate comparisohgperating performance between periods
and between other REITs. Our management belieaghistorical cost accounting for real estate assehccordance with GAAP implicitly
assumes that the value of real estate assets diragpredictably over time. Since real estate gahstead have historically risen or fallen
with market conditions, many industry investors andlysts have considered the presentation of tipgnasults for real estate companies
that use historical cost accounting to be insudfitiby themselves. As a result, management belibadshe use of FFO and FFO per share,
together with the required GAAP presentations, ey a more complete understanding of the Compargrformance relative to its
competitors and a more informed and appropriates lmeswhich to make decisions involving operatifigancing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per share as disclosed by other RE&snot be comparable to our calculation of FFO BR@® per share as described
below. However, you should be aware that FFO ard pér share are naBAAP financial measure and do therefore not represet income
or net income per share as defined by GAAP. Netnmeand net income per share as defined by GAAEhamnost relevant measures in
determining our operating performance because FE-&O per share include adjustments that investagsdeem subjective, such as
adding back expenses such as depreciation andiaatiarn. Furthermore, FFO per share does not dédpécamount that accrues directly to
the stockholders’ benefit. Accordingly, FFO and Fp& share should never be considered as alteesdtivnet income or net income per
share as indicators of our operating performance.

49



Table of Contents

Our calculation of FFO, which we believe is coreistwith the calculation of FFO as defined by thaidhal Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (NAREIT) and appropriately exelsithe cost of capital improvements and relatedaleged interest is as follows:

e Netincome (loss- computed in accordance with GAA
» Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhjcgignificant to the real estate indust

* Less gains or plus losses from sales of depriecigierating properties (excluding impairment Isssesee Note 2 following the
table), and items that are classified as extraargliitems under GAAF

e Plus minority interest
e Less dividends to preferred sharehold

» Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidatedngaships and joint ventures (to reflect funds frgperations on the same basis);
and

*  Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation andréimation and gain/(loss) on sale and minoritgisst related to discontinued
operations

Other REITs may not define the term in accordanitle the current NAREIT definition or may interprbe current NAREIT definition
differently than us.
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FFO and FFO per share for the three and nine mamitisd September 30, 2004 and 2003 are summanizid following table (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Per Per Per Per
Share Share Share Share
Amount Diluted Amount Diluted Amount Diluted Amount Diluted
Funds from operations:
Net income $21,55¢ $32,08: $ 31,90: $ 36,677
Dividends to preferred sharehold (7,719 (7,719 (23,139 (23,139
Net income attributable to common shareholi 13,84t $0.2¢ 24,37. $0.4¢ 8,76¢ $0.1¢€ 13,53¢ $0.2¢
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate
asset: 32,64¢ 0.6C 33,23( 0.6z 100,97¢ 1.87 103,24: 1.9¢

Gain on disposition of depreciable property (1,729 (0.05 (4,489 (0.09 (17,88)) (0.39) (4,728 (0.08)
Minority interest in the Operating Partnershi
in income from operatior 1,491 0.0z 1,96t 0.04 914 0.0z 261 0.01
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real
estate asse 2,372 0.04 1,82( 0.0: 6,352 0.12 5,571 0.1C
Discontinued operations (z
Depreciation and amortization of real

estate asse 12€ — 83¢€ 0.0z 1,10t 0.0z 2,82¢ 0.0%
Gain on sale, net of minority interest in
the Operating Partnership ( (630) (0.01) (7,43) (0.19 (4,465 (0.08) (8,444 (0.16)

Minority interest in the Operating
Partnership in income from

discontinued operatior 63 — a0 — 13t — 367 0.01
Funds from operations before amounts allocable
minority interest in the Operating Partners 48,18¢ 0.8¢ 50,39: 0.94 95,90: 1.7¢ 112,63 2.11
Minority interest in the Operating Partnership
in funds from operation (4,992 (0.09 (5,589 (0.200 (10,000 (0.19 (12,72 (0.29
Funds from operations applicable to common
shareholder $43,19¢ $0.8C $44,80: $0.84 $ 8590 $15¢ $ 99,90 $1.87

Dividend payout data:
Dividends paid per common share/common

unit— diluted $ 0.42¢ $ 0.42¢ $ 1.27¢ $ 143t
As a % of funds from operatiol 53.1% 50.6% 80.2% 76.71%
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted 54,00: 53,35¢ 54,00¢ 53,43¢

Impairment adjustments included in funds from
operations applicable to common she $ (448 $(0.0))

©»
|

$ — $ (3909 $0.00 $ (288 $(0.01

(1) In October 2003, NAREIT issued a Financial Répg Alert that changed its current implementatijuidance for FFO regarding
impairment losses. Accordingly, impairment losselated to depreciable assets have now been inclnd€dO for the periods
presented

(2) For further discussion related to discontinued afi@ns, see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financ&tke8tents
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AB OUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludes “forward-looking statements”
and represents an estimate of possible changas welue or future earnings that would occur asagrhypothetical future movements in
interest rates. These disclosures are not prauikesitors of expected future effects, but only ¢gatlbrs of reasonably possible effects. As a
result, actual future results may differ materiditym those presented. See “Management’s Discussidrnalysis of Results of Operations -
Liquidity and Capital Resources” and the Notesho €onsolidated Financial Statements for a degenijif our accounting policies and other
information related to these financial instruments.

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowingsler ou
Revolving Loan and bank term loans bear interegadable rates. Our long-term debt, which consi$tsecured and unsecured long-term
financings and the issuance of unsecured debtitiesutypically bears interest at fixed rates althh some bear interest at variable rates. In
addition, we have assumed fixed rate and variattedebt in connection with acquiring propertiesr (terest rate risk management
objective is to limit the impact of interest rateanges on earnings and cash flows and to loweowenall borrowing costs. To achieve these
objectives, from time to time we enter into intémede hedge contracts such as collars, swaps,atapgeasury lock agreements in order to
mitigate our interest rate risk with respect toimas debt instruments. We do not hold or issuedhiesivative contracts for trading or
speculative purposes.

As of September 30, 2004, we had approximately Billian of fixed rate debt outstanding. The estiathaggregate fair value of this
debt at September 30, 2004 was $1.3 billion. Hriest rates increase by 100 basis points, the gafgréair value of fixed rate debt as of
September 30, 2004 would decrease by approxim&g&y8 million. If interest rates decrease by 108idpoints, the aggregate fair market
value of fixed rate debt as of September 30, 2006dlavincrease by approximately $56.3 million.

As of September 30, 2004, we had approximately $38#llion of variable rate debt outstanding thatsmot protected by interest rate
hedge contracts. If the weighted average inteegston this variable rate debt is 100 basis pdiigfiser or lower during the 12 months ended
December 31, 2004, our interest expense woulddreased or decreased approximately $3.5 million.

For a discussion of our interest rate hedge castineffect at September 30, 2004 see “Managem&iscussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Results of Operationsguldity and Capital Resources — Interest Rate Heggictivities.” If interest rates increase
by 100 basis points, the aggregate fair marketevafithese interest rate hedge contracts as oé®éetrr 30, 2004 would increase by
approximately $0.2 million. If interest rates dexse by 100 basis points, the aggregate fair magteé of these interest rate hedge contracts
as of September 30, 2004 would decrease by appabsiyn$0.03 million.

In addition, we are exposed to certain lossesearetrent of nonperformance by the counter partiéeuthe hedge contracts. We expect
the counter parties, which are major financialitatbns, to perform fully under the contracts. Hoxer, if either of the counter parties was to
default on its obligation under an interest ratddeecontract, we could be required to pay ther&i#ts on our debt, even if such rates were in
excess of the rate in the contract.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
G ENERAL
The purpose of this section is to discuss the tffercess of our disclosure controls and procedanelsour internal control over financ

reporting. The statements in this section repretsentonclusions of Edward J. Fritsch, our CEO, Bewdy L. Stevens, our CFO. Mr. Fritsch
became our CEO on July 1, 2004 and Mr. Stevensniecair CFO on December 1, 2003.

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our disclosure otsyand procedures and our internal control overfcial reporting include a
review of the controls’ objectives and design, ¢batrols’ implementation by us and the effect @& dontrols on the information generated for
use in this Quarterly Report. We seek to identdyaderrors, control problems or acts of fraud amfiom that appropriate corrective action,
including process improvements, is undertaken.dialosure controls and procedures over finanejbrting are also evaluated on an
ongoing basis through the following:

» activities undertaken and reports issued by employe our internal audit departme
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* by manageme’s evaluation of the results of audits provided byindependent auditors in connection with thetliaactivities;
» other personnel in our finance and accounting degdion;

* members of our internal disclosure committee;

* members of the audit committee of our Board of €lives.

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, do xméet that our disclosure controls and procedunelsirternal control over
financial reporting will prevent all error and &lhud. A control system, no matter how well coneeivand operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the ieiectf the control system are met. Further, trségiheof disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting mreftect the fact that there are resource constaand the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because oirtherent limitations in all control systems, no lexion of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instanciaudd, if any, within the Company have been detkctdese inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making carfiaudty, and that breakdowns can occur becausesohple error or mistake. Additionally,
controls can be circumvented by the individual aftsome persons, by collusion of two or more peppt by management override of the
control. The design of any system of controls &doased in part upon certain assumptions abodikiéléhood of future events, and there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed ileol its stated goals under all potential futcoaditions. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, sti&ements due to error or fraud may occur andaatetected.

D 1scLosSURE C ONTROLS AND P ROCEDURES

SEC rules require us to maintain disclosure costaold procedures that are designed to ensurenfbatiation required to be disclosed
in our annual and periodic reports filed with tHeCSis recorded, processed, summarized and repeitieith the time periods specified in the
SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and guaces include, without limitation, controls andgedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us is aagiated and communicated to our management, induolim CEO and CFO, to allow time
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on our evaluation of disclosure controls@nodedures, as of the date of the filing of thisaferly Report, our CEO and CFO
believe that our disclosure controls and procedaresffective to ensure that information requik@tle disclosed in its financial reports has
been made known to management, including the CEIGC&®, and other persons responsible for prepatich reports and is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported.

| NTERNAL C oNTROL O VER F INANCIAL R EPORTING

SEC rules also require us to maintain internal mmiver financial reporting designed to providasenable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP. Internal control
over financial reporting includes those policiesl anocedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records that in re@sle detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of ass
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» provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparatiomandial statements in accordance
with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures airgomade only in accordance with authorizationsahagement and directors;
and

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preveotibmely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose wr disposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on the finansfatements

In November 2004, we filed amended reports to testar previously reported financial results asafch 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003 and for the three months ended March 31, 20842003 included in our March 31, 2004 Quartedpétt on Form 10-Q and as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the years dbdeedmber 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included in ogeB¥er 31, 2003 Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Ernst & Young LLP has issued an utifjad opinion dated October 22, 2004 on our resta2003, 2002 and 2001
Consolidated Financial Statements that are inclinledir 2003 amended Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In October 2004, Ernst & Young LLP advised our Au@iommittee that they identified the following midaéweaknesses during their
audits of the restated financial statements fo132@002 and 2001: inadequate procedures for apptefyrassessing and applying accounting
principles to complex transactions; lack of adequtance and accounting staff to appropriatelyiifg and evaluate accounting for
transactions; inadequate procedures to ensureatiiformation regarding a transaction is knowrthy persons accounting for such
transaction; and lack of application of GAAP tansactions due to perceived immateriality of tratisas.

Since late 2002, we have added several experiestaéido our Finance and Accounting Departmentgsehincluded an Assistant
Controller (new position), a Director of Financ&hndards and Compliance (new position), a Senir@c®r of Investor Relations
(replacement) and a new Chief Financial Officepl@eement, as the former CFO assumed a new posittbin the Company). During 2003
and 2004 up to the filing date of this QuarterlypB&, we have further improved our internal contreér financial reporting by, among other
things, expanding supervisory activities and maimtptechniques and strengthening our procedursigided to ensure that information
relating to transactions directly or indirectly aiving the Company and its subsidiaries is madenknto persons responsible for preparing
our financial statements. We have also implemergeded checklists and additional management ayletrsif our accounting staff to ensure
appropriate assessment and application of GAAH toaasactions, particularly complex transactisnsh as sales of real estate with
continuing involvement that are governed by SFAS 6&

Other than the foregoing, there have been no claingaur internal controls over financial reportsigce September 30, 2004 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 megupublic companies, including us, with a fisaeduythat ends on December 31 to
report on the effectiveness of their internal cointwver financial reporting in their 2004 Annualpget on Form 10-K, which we are required
to file with the SEC no later than March 16, 200%ir independent auditor will be required to atteghat report. Our management, including
our CEO and CFO, and our audit committee are wgrHliligently to ensure that our internal controko¥inancial reporting provides
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiiicial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(@) Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

10.14 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement among HighwoRedslty Limited Partnership, Highwoods Properties,|
the Subsidiaries named therein and the Lenders chéimeeein, executed in August 2004 and effectivee R0,

2004.
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

(b) Reports on Form-K
None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

H IGHWOODSP ROPERTIES, | NC.

By: /s EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /sl TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: December 13, 2004
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagsantain any untrue statement of a materialdactmit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in thisagterly report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, tesaf operations and cash flows of the Registeantf, and for, the periods
presented in this quarterly repc

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

€)) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this quarterhpoet is being preparei

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateraly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

5.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrant’s Board of Directors farsons performing the
equivalent functions)

€)) all significant deficiencies and material weesses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

(b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that ineshmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: December 13, 2004

/s/ EDwARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl
President and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagsantain any untrue statement of a materialdactmit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in thisagterly report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, tesaf operations and cash flows of the Registeantf, and for, the periods
presented in this quarterly repc

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

€)) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this quarterhpoet is being preparei

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateraly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

5.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrant’s Board of Directors farsons performing the
equivalent functions)

€)) all significant deficiencies and material weesses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

(b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that ineshmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: December 13, 2004

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Steven:
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Traasu



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwederoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Qtfar period ended September
30, 2004 as filed with the Securities and ExchaBgmmission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Iwadd J. Fritsch, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuamil8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9@t Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, tha

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ EDwARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl
President and Chief Executive Offic
December 13, 200



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwederoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Qtfar period ended September
30, 2004 as filed with the Securities and ExchaBgmmission on the date hereof (the “Repoit”)erry L. Stevens, Vice President and C
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 98l Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Steven:
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasur
December 13, 200



